Eastern Kentucky University

Encompass

Online Theses and Dissertations

Student Scholarship

January 2020

Bee Abundance Along a Tropical Montane Elevational Gradient and Implications for Crop Pollination Services

Kristin M. Conrad Eastern Kentucky University

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/etd

Part of the Climate Commons, Entomology Commons, Natural Resources and Conservation Commons, and the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

Recommended Citation

Conrad, Kristin M., "Bee Abundance Along a Tropical Montane Elevational Gradient and Implications for Crop Pollination Services" (2020). *Online Theses and Dissertations*. 700. https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/700

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Online Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact Linda.Sizemore@eku.edu.

BEE ABUDANCE ALONG A TROPICAL MONTANE ELEVATIONAL GRADIENT AND IMPLICATIONS FOR CROP POLLINATION SERVICES

ΒY

KRISTIN M. CONRAD

THESIS APPROVED:

Dr. Valerie Peters, Chair, Advisory Committee

Dr. Jennifer Koslow, Meniber, Advisory Committee

Dr. David Brown, Member, Advisory Committee

Dr. Ryan Baggett, Dean, Graduate School

STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Master of Science degree at Eastern Kentucky University, I agree that the Library shall make it available to borrowers under rules of the Library. Brief questions from this thesis are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgment of the source is made. Permission for extensive quotation from or reproduction of this document may be granted by my major professor in her absence, by the Head of Interlibrary Services when, in the opinion of either, the proposed use of the material is for scholarly purposes. Any copying or use of the material in this document for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signature Justin Congroad

Date 10/19/2020

BEE ABUNDANCE ALONG A TROPICAL MONTANE ELEVATIONAL GRADIENT AND IMPLICATIONS FOR CROP POLLINATION SERVICES

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

KRISTIN M. CONRAD

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Eastern Kentucky University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

© Copyright by KRISTIN M. CONRAD 2020 All Rights Reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to begin by thanking my advisor, Dr. Valerie Peters, whose experience provided the structure for this research and whose guidance motivated my own growth and development. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Jen Koslow and Dr. David Brown, whose contribution of time and expertise was integral to the completion of this thesis. I would like to thank Chelsea Hinton, Jeni Knight, Noelia Solano, Brian Hoven, John Nelson, Clay Thompson, and Taylor Allen, for assistance collecting, processing, and identifying specimens, Tony Robertson for equipment fabrication, and Dr. Sandra Rehan for additional identification assistance. This study was made possible through the financial support from Eastern Kentucky University and the Earthwatch Institute.

The completion of this study would be impossible without the contribution of citizen scientists; I would like to thank all Earthwatch volunteers for their specimen collection efforts and enthusiasm for conservation and adventure. I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to the San Luis, CR community for their hospitality, generosity, and participation that was fundamental to this study, as well as UGA Costa Rica, CIEE, and Maria Hudson for their lodging and accommodation. A special thanks to Alex Jimenez for transportation and logistical assistance.

Lastly, I am incredibly grateful for my family, friends, cohort, and, especially, for Matt Henson and Amber Morris; Your support, assistance, encouragement, and comedic relief helped me to realize my aspirations and I cannot thank you enough.

iii

ABSTRACT

Tropical forests are among the biologically richest ecosystems on Earth, but how most organisms in these forests will respond to a warming climate remains uncertain. Insects are expected to be highly responsive to climate change due to their short life cycles that are strongly influenced by temperature. Plants depend on pollinators to set seed and reproduce, and many animal populations rely on the resources provided by flowering plants. There is an urgent need to document elevational distributions and thermal specialization for tropical bee species to understand how these important pollinators may respond to warming temperatures. My four-year study (2016-2019) aims to quantify bee abundance differences across an elevational gradient. I focus on the two bee tribes comprising the most abundant species collected, Tribes Meliponini and Ceratinini. Bee species of these two tribes are also important pollinators of tropical forest plant species. Three adjacent roadsides, separated by 1 km each, were used as replicate elevational gradients. Each elevational gradient spans 750-1150 m elevation and are located in the seasonally dry Pacific slope forests of Costa Rica. The study area represents a mixture of smallholder farms, pasture, and forest patches, and is located in a conservation area. Bees were sampled at each 100 m elevation change using both active and passive collection methods in an effort to effectively survey the bee community. My results suggest that many species in these tribes exhibit elevational range specialization, and a canonical correspondence analysis indicates that elevation and site explain ~42% of the variation in the community composition of Meliponini and Ceratinini ($F_{pseudo(3,8)}$ = 1.91, p = 0.002). Mountain-dwelling species are expected to exhibit shifts to higher elevations and cooler temperatures over time due to global temperature increases. My

study is one of the first to provide evidence of elevational specialization in several bee species. These findings indicate that bee species of tropical montane landscapes could be at high-risk due to warming temperatures or changing patterns of precipitation, as species with narrow elevational ranges or specialization within a narrow portion of their elevational range are predicted to be more vulnerable to range shifts.

Beyond my assessment of elevation specialization in Neotropical bee species, I conducted an additional study to identify the important pollinators of Persea americana and *Cucurbita pepo* within their native ranges. Observations were conducted during December of 2018 and 2019 for *P. americana*, and during the wet and dry seasons of 2019 for C. pepo, and resulted in the collection of 145 pollinators visiting P. americana and 223 pollinators visiting C. pepo. My results suggest that species belonging to the tribe Meliponini are important pollinators for my focal crop species, as they represent approximately 75% of the pollinators visiting both P. americana and C. pepo; however, species accumulation curves indicate the need for additional sampling in order to accurately determine the entire pollinator assemblage visiting each focal crop species. Community similarity analyses also indicate that elevation may be an important factor in determining the pollinator assemblages of each focal crop species, as a low degree of similarity was detected among communities present at each sampled elevation category. My results support the importance of natural area management, sustainable farming, and conservation of plant- pollinator mutualisms in order to sustain wild bee species abundance and diversity.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Cl | HAPTER PAGE | | | | | | |
|-----|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| I. | SMALL-SCALE PATTERNS OF ELEVATIONAL SPECIALIZATION INDICATE | | | | | | |
| | HIGH VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE CHANGE FOR TROPICAL BEES1 | | | | | | |
| | INTRODUCTION1 | | | | | | |
| | METHODS9 | | | | | | |
| | Study Site9 | | | | | | |
| | Focal Pollinator Tribes12 | | | | | | |
| | Pollinator Sampling14 | | | | | | |
| | Environmental Variables15 | | | | | | |
| | Statistical Analysis | | | | | | |
| | RESULTS | | | | | | |
| | Bee Abundance in Bee Bowls23 | | | | | | |
| | Bee Presence/ Absence in Honey Spray26 | | | | | | |
| | Bee Presence/ Absence in Timed Flower Observations | | | | | | |
| | Bee Abundance in Timed Flower Observations | | | | | | |
| | Bee Community Similarity and Composition | | | | | | |
| | DISCUSSION | | | | | | |
| II. | POLLINATOR COMMUNITY COMPOSITION OF PERSEA AMERICANA AND | | | | | | |
| | CUCURBITA PEPO ON AN ELEVATION GRADIENT: IMPLICATIONS FOR | | | | | | |
| | CROP POLLINATION | | | | | | |
| | INTRODUCTION | | | | | | |
| | METHODS | | | | | | |

| Study Site | |
|---|-----------------|
| Focal Crop Species | 54 |
| Pollinator Sampling | 56 |
| Statistical Analysis | |
| RESULTS | |
| DISCUSSION | |
| LITERATURE CITED | 66 |
| APPENDICES | |
| APPENDIX A: List of abbreviations used in figures in chapter 2 in p | lace of species |
| complete scientific name | |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE PAGE |
|--|
| Table 1-1. Abundance of bee species collected in each elevation category across the |
| replicate elevational gradients in the San Luis Valley and from 0 m in the Osa |
| Peninsula, 2016-2019 |
| Table 1-2. Results of generalized mixed model analyses testing for the effect of |
| elevation on the abundance of C. rectangulifera, C. trimaculata, and A. mellifera across |
| replicate transects, 2016-2018. Significance assessed using likelihood ratio tests23 |
| Table 1-3. Proportion of honey spray samples containing Meliponini observations at |
| each elevation in 2018-2019. Species present in five or fewer honey spray observations |
| were excluded from statistical analyses and are in bold. Species found to have a |
| statistically significant relationship between presence and elevation are indicated with |
| an asterisk |
| Table 1-4. Results of binomial generalized mixed model analyses testing for the effect |
| of elevation on the presence of Meliponini species present in greater than five honey |
| spray observations, 2018-2019. Species found to have a statistically significant |
| relationship between presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk |
| Table 1-5. Proportion of timed flower observations at each elevation in 2017-2019. |
| Species present in 17 or fewer timed flower observations were excluded from statistical |
| analyses and are in bold. Species found to have a statistically significant relationship |
| among presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk |
| Table 1-6. Results of binomial generalized mixed model analyses testing for the effect |
| of elevation on the presence of bee species present in greater than 17 timed flower |

| observations, 2017-2019. Species found to have a statistically significant relationship |
|--|
| between presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk |
| Table 1-7. Linear model results for the effect of elevation category and elevation zone |
| on frequently collected Apini, Ceratinini, and Meliponini species frequencies in thirty- |
| minute timed flower observations, 2017-2019. Significance assessed using Chi-square |
| goodness-of-fit tests |
| Table 1-8. Community similarity matrix including Apini, Ceratinini, and Meliponini |
| individuals observed in all sampling methods, singletons removed, 2016-2019 |
| Table 2-1. Community similarity matrix observed at Persea americana, December 2018 |
| and 201960 |
| Table 2-2. Community similarity matrix observed at Cucurbita pepo, 2019. |

LIST OF FIGURES

| FIGURE PAGE | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| Figure 1-1. Costa Rica maximum and average temperatures (1970-2000). The San Luis | | | | |
| study area is indicated on map and is within the hottest and driest region of Costa Rica, | | | | |
| the Pacific Northwest | | | | |
| Figure 1-2. Three replicate elevational gradients located in San Luis de Monteverde, | | | | |
| Costa Rica. T1: Transect 1; T2: Transect 2; T3: Transect 3. Meters above sea-level are | | | | |
| shown for each sampling location. Obtained from Google Maps9 | | | | |
| Figure 1-3. Mean of monthly average and maximum temperatures (°C) for 800 and | | | | |
| 1100 m a.s.l., and average monthly differences (ΔT°) in San Luis de Monteverde, CR, | | | | |
| 1970-2000 | | | | |
| Figure 1-4. Map of Costa Rica detailing location of San Luis de Monteverde, Costa | | | | |
| Rica, in relation to a second sampling location near Puerto Jimenez in Osa Peninsula, | | | | |
| Costa Rica. Obtained from Google Maps11 | | | | |
| Figure 1-5. Average abundances across three replicate transects of Ceratina | | | | |
| rectangulifera and Ceratina trimaculata individuals obtained from bee bowls at each | | | | |
| sampled elevation, 2016-201824 | | | | |
| Figure 1-6. Seasonal variation of the average abundances of individuals collected in bee | | | | |
| bowls belonging to the tribe Ceratinini in June, July, and December, 2016-201825 | | | | |
| Figure 1-7. Variation in cumulative rainfall and the number of rainy days observed | | | | |
| during the onset of the rainy season, April-May, 2016-201926 | | | | |
| Figure 1-8. A subset of 2878 bees representing three tribes from a total of 3919 bees | | | | |
| that were collected directly from flowering plant species during 30-minute timed | | | | |

| oservations. Species present in 17 or fewer samples were excluded from statistical |
|--|
| alysis. An asterisk denotes a statistically significant effect of elevation on bee species |
| resence using a binomial glm (p< 0.05). Each red dot is one individual |
| gure 1-9. Canonical correspondence analysis ordination revealing elevation and site to |
| e significant in explaining \sim 42% of the variation in bee community composition across |
| elevation gradient, 2016-2018 |
| gure 2-1. Sites selected for <i>P. americana</i> and <i>C. pepo</i> sampling across an elevational |
| adient located in San Luis de Monteverde, Costa Rica. Yellow markers represent P. |
| nericana sites, blue markers represent C. pepo sites, and green markers represent sites |
| here both focal crop species were sampled. Meters above sea-level are shown for each |
| 00-meter transition across the transect. Obtained from Google Maps |
| gure 2-2. Single Persea americana flower during stage two, the functionally male |
| age. Photo credit: Kristina Victoreen, Earthwatch Institute volunteer, December 2019. |
| |
| gure 2-3. Abundance of species collected during thirty-minute timed flower |
| oservations at Persea americana across the elevation gradient. Each red dot |
| prresponds to on individual. Observations were conducted during December of 2018 |
| nd 2019 in the San Luis Valley, CR |
| gure 2-4. Species accumulation curves for timed samples conducted at flowers of |
| ersea americana and Cucurbita pepo, 2018-201959 |
| gure 2-5. Abundance of species collected during thirty-minute timed flower |
| |

individual observations. Observations were conducted during the wet and dry seasons of

| 201960 |
|--------|
|--------|

SMALL-SCALE PATTERNS OF ELEVATIONAL SPECIALIZATION INDICATE HIGH VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE CHANGE FOR TROPICAL BEES

INTRODUCTION

Pollination is arguably one of the most essential ecosystem services for humanity globally (Dixon 2009). Specifically, pollination (i) enhances genetic diversity in most plant species, including species that are important for human well-being, such as wild relatives of crops and plant-based pharmaceutical products, (ii) improves the quality and/or quantity of many food crops (Bartomeus et al. 2014, Garibaldi et al. 2013), and (iii) forms the resource base (i.e., fruits, nuts) for wildlife that humans may either derive aesthetic value such as ecotourism, or consumptive value. In lowland forests of the tropics, for example, it is estimated that 98-99% of the plant species producing the food resource base for tropical wildlife rely on animal-pollination (Bawa 1990). Globally, scientific knowledge of the role of pollinators in supporting ecosystem function, crop production and diversity maintenance, including the diversity of wild crop relatives and pharmaceuticals, is startlingly scarce. For example, an increasing number of studies are finding that pollinators improve production in crop species that were previously thought not to rely on animal pollinators, while the majority of the world's crops have an unknown reliance on animal pollination (Ashworth et al. 2009, Milfont et al. 2013). In addition to the importance of pollinators to animal-pollinated plants, a recent review found that pollinators used pollen from 101 wind-pollinated plant genera from 25 different families, including ten economically important windpollinated crop species (Saunders 2018), indicating that animal-mediated pollination

may play a substantial role in the pollination and genetic diversity of wind-pollinated plants.

Pollinator importance likely increases at low latitudes because (a) there are more crop species, including those exported to developed nations (e.g. 316 crops in Mexico), (b) subsistence farmers have a greater dependence on free pollination services, and (c) pollinator-dependent crops produce twice as much income per hectare as nonpollinator-dependent crops (Ashworth et al. 2009). Tropical bees have substantial economic value for their role in pollinating tropical crops (Freitas and Paxton 1998, Freitas et al. 1999, van der Sluijs and Vaage 2016) and production of wax and honey (Vit et al. 2012). Decline of pollination services can lead to decreased food provisioning, including loss of nutrient balance and food diversity (Steffan-Dewenter et al. 2005), and long-term decreases in global plant diversity and provisioning of associated ecosystem services, such as water purification, nutrient cycling, and disease control (Balvanera et al. 2006, Fontaine et al. 2006).

As pollination services maintain biodiversity and bees (Superfamily Apoidea) are the most effective pollinators, research efforts advancing knowledge of tropical bee ecology in biodiversity hotspots should be a global priority of science (Bascompte and Jordano 2007, Dixon 2009). While much attention has been devoted to quantifying the patterns of bee abundance and diversity across land use gradients (Kennedy et al. 2013), as well as the implications for pollination services (Ricketts et al. 2008), there is a surprisingly large gap in knowledge surrounding bee abundance and diversity patterns across elevational gradients, especially in the tropics. Mountainous bee communities in temperate areas exhibit a decline in species richness and abundance with increasing elevation, while the mean body size of temperate bees reveals an increase with increasing elevation (Hoiss et al. 2012). Temperate research on bees across elevational gradients also predicts that smaller-bodied bee species may face higher levels of competition if they shift their ranges to higher elevations in response to warming temperatures (Pereboom and Biesmeijer 2003).

Elevational transect work has reported mid-domain effects across a broad range of taxonomic groups (Rodríguez-Castañeda et al. 2010), and tropical bees may be distributed similarly. The mid-domain effect describes elevational gradients in species diversity, where the random-mixing of species distribution ranges within the constraints of a bounded domain results in a higher overlap in species ranges within the center of the domain than at the upper or lower limits (Colwell and Hurtt 1994, Colwell and Lees 2000), and may exhibit a disproportionate amount of pressure on the distribution of species more likely to be constrained by geographic boundaries (Jetz and Rahbek 2002, Colwell et al. 2004). However, bees are included among the few taxa that show reversed latitudinal gradient patterns in species richness, although global distribution data for most bee taxa have yet to be analyzed (Gaston 2000, Bystriakova et al. 2018). For example, the similarly sized countries of the contiguous United States and Brazil are home to 1107 and 1821 bird species, respectively, but are also home to 4000 and 1678 described bee species, respectively (Freitas et al. 2009). Instead, hotspots of bee diversity have been shown at mid-latitudes and arid environments (Michener 1979). There are exceptions, however; the Neotropical bee tribe, Euglossini, and the economically important Pantropical bee tribe, Meliponini, both increase in species richness with decreasing latitude, while the bee family Andrenidae has no described

species in some tropical countries, including Costa Rica (Freitas et al. 2009). Additionally, the economically important bee tribe, Bombini, shows a trend of decreasing species richness with decreasing latitude, in contrast to the understudied small carpenter bee tribe, Ceratinini, which exhibits higher diversity at lower latitudes (Hartfelder 2008, Rehan et al. 2010, Faria and Gonçalves 2013). Since bees do not appear to follow typical global distribution patterns (Pereboom and Biesmeijer 2003), their distribution along tropical mountains may also reveal unique, species-specific or tribe-specific patterns.

Elevational gradients have long been used to test ecological theory and are increasingly used to predict species' risk to climate change (Colwell et al. 2008, McCain and Colwell 2011). Accurate estimates of altitudinal distributions are lacking for most tropical insects, but studies conducted have documented narrow elevational ranges (Macedo et al. 2018). While quantifying elevational range sizes of tropical bee species is scientifically and economically important, there is also an urgent need to know how bee species' abundances vary along elevational gradients, as increased pollinator visits results in higher rates of pollen deposition on flowers (Garibaldi et al. 2013). Smaller elevational gradients in the tropics have been studied less because the differences are often assumed to be marginal, however, plant-animal interactions can vary drastically over short distances on tropical mountains (Rodríguez-Castañeda et al. 2010, Sheldon 2019). Studies along full elevation gradients can show the range extent of species, but typically lack the resolution and replication to detect whether species are equally abundant throughout their range. Species that are common or highly abundant only within a narrow portion of their full altitudinal range should be as vulnerable to

changing climate as species with a narrow range. Clumped distributions of tropical species within their narrow elevational ranges may result from habitat specialization or biotic interactions at upper or lower boundary limits and highlight a potentially greater vulnerability to climate change if biotic interactions impede climate induced range shifts (HilleRisLambers et al. 2013). Both insect and plant species, which depend on each other in mutualistic relationships, tend to have more narrow elevational ranges compared to vertebrate species, increasing their potential risk to the combined effects of shifting patterns of precipitation and temperature (Deutsch et al. 2008, McCain and Colwell 2011).

Climate change is posited to have a disproportionately greater impact on tropical species, particularly ectotherms (Deutsch et al. 2008), species residing in the Pacific slopes of Mesoamerica (McCain and Colwell 2011), and mutualists (Dunn et al. 2009, Aslan et al. 2013). Thus, bees of Pacific Central America are among the most at-risk taxa, facing threats from climate change that include the decoupling of interaction partners, desiccation, shifting ranges upslope to novel temperature or precipitation regimes and novel communities, and widowhood (Freitas et al. 2009). Because the narrow altitudinal ranges associated with tropical species has been equated with limited thermal tolerance, much climate change research at low latitudes has focused on species tolerance to temperature extremes (García-Robledo et al. 2016). However, habitat specialization or biotic factors such as competition, predation, and the absence of mutualists can further restrict elevational ranges beyond the species' fundamental niche (Ghalambor et al. 2006, Aguirre and Dirzo 2008, HilleRisLambers et al. 2013).

globally will lead to the creation of novel biotic interactions, communities, habitats, and moisture regimes, or may decouple important biotic interactions, likely posing a greater risk for tropical species (Urban et al. 2012).

While the effects of warming temperatures have received more attention, changing precipitation patterns are expected to result in more extreme drying periods in Central America (McCain and Colwell 2011), posing a considerable threat to montane bee communities when compared to warming temperatures alone. Moisture is one of the most important abiotic factors affecting the life of terrestrial organisms, yet empirical studies documenting species desiccation tolerance are scarce when compared to thermal tolerance (Montejo-Kovacevich et al. 2020); costly humidity loggers and difficulties with obtaining precipitation data both contribute to this discrepancy. While some evidence exists that insects in particular may be better adapted to tolerate prolonged dry periods (Thorat and Nath 2018), more research is needed because high mortality in insects exposed to prolonged desiccation has also been documented (Moriyama and Numata 2006, Bujan et al. 2016). Global climate change predictions include frequent and severe droughts and erratic precipitation patterns, with these impacts expected to be extreme for mountain-dwelling species of the Pacific slopes of Mesoamerica compared to all other regions globally (McCain and Colwell 2011). Insects living in arid environments should be more capable of tolerating dry periods, but desiccation resistance has not been tested for insects living in seasonally-dry environments, despite the fact that these systems are predicted to experience the most drastic changes in precipitation regimes. Unprecedented precipitation patterns coupled with warming temperatures are expected to induce spatial and temporal shifts in pollinator emergence,

resulting in phenological mismatches among plants and pollinators (Vanbergen and the Insect Pollinators Initiative 2013, Benadi et al. 2014). Long-term data documenting patterns of seasonal and interannual fluctuations in pollinator abundances in locations where precipitation data is available can reveal which species may be more vulnerable to the direct or indirect impacts of drought (Wolda 1988).

A two-year study of coffee flower visitors on farms ranging from 975-1140 m elevation in Monteverde, CR revealed that several species of Meliponini were frequent visitors to coffee farms below 1000 m elevation, but were never observed to visit coffee flowers on farms above 1050 m elevation (Peters et al. 2010). This observation inspired long-term monitoring of bee populations in the study area beginning in 2012, with the inclusion of citizen scientists and systematic methodology beginning in 2016. Given the important role of Meliponini and other tropical pollinators in the biotic interactions that support ecological functions, ecosystem services, and ultimately the maintenance of tropical biodiversity (Ruiz-Utrilla et al. 2018), understanding how tropical pollinators may respond to changing climatic conditions is imperative in efforts to conserve tropical pollinator species and pollination services. Focusing on 30 bees species from three tribes, I evaluated the degree of elevational specialization within an elevational gradient that included two life zones: A lower zone consisting of tropical dry forest with higher average and maximum temperatures (750-949 m elevation), and an upper zone consisting of tropical premontane forest with lower average and maximum temperatures (950-1150 m elevation, **Figure 1-1**).



Figure 1-1. Costa Rica maximum and average temperatures (1970-2000). The San Luis study area is indicated on map and is within the hottest and driest region of Costa Rica, the Pacific Northwest.

METHODS

Study Site

Three replicate elevational gradients were established in the San Luis Valley of Monteverde, Puntarenas, Costa Rica (10°16' N, 84°48-49' W) in 2012 (**Figure 1-2**). The San Luis Valley is located on the Pacific slope of the Tilarán mountain range from 500 to 1200 m above sea-level, with the established transects spanning 750-1150 m above sea-level and positioned approximately 1 km apart. The study area is comprised of tropical dry forest, with low humidity during the dry season (20-60% day time average humidity; Janzen 1988), and pre-montane forest with consistently perhumid conditions (Freiberg 1997), and daily temperatures averaging ~19 °C (Harvey 2000). The rainy season lasts from May to November, with mean precipitation of 200-600 mm per month.



Figure 1-2. Three replicate elevational gradients located in San Luis de Monteverde, Costa Rica. T1: Transect 1; T2: Transect 2; T3: Transect 3. Meters above sea-level are shown for each sampling location. Obtained from Google Maps.

The dry season typically takes place from December to April with a rainfall average of 50-150 mm monthly (Baker 2007, Peters et al. 2010). The region consists primarily of pastures, sugar cane and coffee plantations, and other agricultural plantations subdivided by patches of old primary forest (Peters et al. 2010). A large portion of the study area is protected under conservation easements that preclude forest-clearing activities.

Historical temperature data (1970-2000) in the study area reveals a thermal gradient, with a temperature difference of ~0.7 °C between the 800 m elevation and 1100 m elevation (**Figure 1-3**), with the temperature maximum of the 800 m site an average of 0.71 °C warmer than the 1100 m site, and the temperature average of the 800 m site and the 1100 m site an average of 0.65 °C warmer that the 1100 m site. Both the 800 m site and the 1100 m site exhibit a similar degree of temperature variation across the year.



Figure 1-3. Mean of monthly average and maximum temperatures (°C) for 800 and 1100 m a.s.l., and average monthly differences (Δ T°) in San Luis de Monteverde, CR, 1970-2000.

A second study area was established to sample bees at sea-level elevation for a plant-pollinator network study in tropical lowland rain forest (RF). The Osa Peninsula is part of the Isthmian-Pacific moist forest ecoregion and is located at sea-level on the coast of the Pacific Ocean and the Golfo Dulce (**Figure 1-4**). Thirteen sampling sites were established within the tropical countryside of the southeastern corner of the Osa Peninsula, nearby to Puerto Jimenez, CR. Sampling areas consisted primarily of residential and agricultural areas loosely divided by patches of forest (Hunt et al. 2015). Thirty-minute timed-sampling observations of pollinator individuals were conducted at ornamental flowering species at each sampling area during June, July, and December of 2017-2019.



Figure 1-4. Map of Costa Rica detailing location of San Luis de Monteverde, Costa Rica, in relation to a second sampling location near Puerto Jimenez in Osa Peninsula, Costa Rica. Obtained from Google Maps.

Focal Pollinator Tribes

Species belonging to the tribe Ceratinini are highly diverse and globally distributed, consisting of 350 species worldwide, with 15 known species occurring within Costa Rica (Dew et al. 2016). The Ceratinini tribe is one of four belonging to the Apidae subfamily Xylocopinae (Michener 1990a, Rehan et al. 2010). Michener (2007) recognized one genus, *Ceratina*, within this tribe, with 21 subgenera, 16 of which are endemic to the eastern hemisphere and five endemic to the western hemisphere. Species within this tribe are considered to be primitively social due to some feeding behaviors; some females may remain in the nest and assist the mother, acting as drones or foragers, however, no official queen or worker castes have been observed (Eardley and Daly 2007). Smaller holes in the pithy stems of shrubs may indicate nests of species belonging to the Ceratinini tribe, thus earning this tribe the common name of "small carpenter bee." Females can often be seen guarding nest entrances while offspring develop inside the stems (Roubik 1989, Michener 2007). Small carpenter bees do not eat the excavated wood or pith, but instead, use both for partitioning long rows of brood cells. Ceratinini species are considered to be polylectic, as they collect floral rewards from a diversity of unrelated plant species (Raju et al. 2001). Individuals in this tribe range from 2.2-12.5 mm in length (Michener 1990a, 2007).

The bee tribe Meliponini consists of several hundred described species arranged into 21 genera (Michener 1990b), approximately 50 of which occur in Costa Rica (Aguilar et al. 2012). However, most genera have not been sufficiently studied, therefore the actual number of species belonging to this tribe is unknown (Engel 2000). Species within this tribe are known as "social stingless bees" as they have been found to

exist in large, perennial, honey-producing colonies with a single queen (Gómez-Escobar et al. 2014). Meliponini species are the primary visitors of many flowering plants in the tropics and are capable of buzz-pollination and nectar-robbing behaviors (Heard 1999). The distribution of species within this tribe is limited to the tropics and subtropics, extending into temperate areas of the southern hemisphere (Kaluza et al. 2018). Meliponini species frequently nest in pithy stems or hollow trees, however, the nest location and external structure are often highly species-specific (Brosi et al. 2008). Social stingless bees exhibit a similar variation in size across species to that of the Ceratinini tribe, ranging from 1.8 to 13.5 mm in length (Michener 2007).

Apis mellifera, the Africanized Honeybee, is a hybrid of European and African Honeybee subspecies whose contemporary distribution spreads through South and Central America and into southern portions of the United States (Sheppard et al. 1991, Calfee et al. 2020). *A. mellifera* are social bees that live in honey-producing colonies consisting of queens, workers, and drones, and may nest in exposed areas or in cavities found in hollow trees or in the ground (Michener 2007). *Apis mellifera* is considered a supergeneralist foraging species and has been documented as the most abundant pollinator visitor to various plant taxa (Howlett et al. 2005, Chaudhary 2006, Davila and Wardle 2008). No known residential apiaries or beekeeping farms exist in the study area.

Pollinator Sampling

Pollinator sampling was conducted during the months of June, July, and December of 2016-2019 from 0800 to 1400 h daily. A combination of passive and active bee collection methods were used, as this is the most effective way to target the entire bee community. Thirty small, plastic 2.5 oz bee bowls painted different colors (florescent yellow, florescent blue, white) using Guerra Paint & Pigment Corp. matte acrylic paint (Droege n.d.), were placed linearly and approximately 5 m apart at each of the sampled elevations (800, 900, 1000, and 1100 m a.s.l.) of each of the three transects. Bowls were placed in order to alternate colors, then filled 2/3 with soapy water. The soap decreases the surface tension such that even small insects are trapped if they land on the surface, and filling the bowls at approximately 2/3 allows for small collisions without spilling the bowl and/ or losing its contents (Droege 2015). Additionally, one yellow and one blue vane trap were each filled to approximately 1/6 of the vane trap container with soapy water and hung from a tree branch for each sample elevation on each transect. Bee bowls and vane traps were deployed 4 times annually per transect from 2016-2018 during the months of June, July, and December, from approximately 0800-1400 h daily, except during periods of heavy precipitation.

A honey spray solution was utilized in order to attract and capture stingless bees from the tribe Meliponini, as bee bowls and vane traps do not effectively capture bees in this tribe (Eltz et al. 2001, Gómez-Escobar et al. 2014). Honey spray solution samples were obtained four times annually per transect during the years 2018-2019 between 800-1400 hours. Vegetation with broad leaves in an open area were located and sprayed with a honey-water solution that is one-part honey and two parts water and marked with flagging tape. Honey sprayed areas were re-sprayed 10-30 minutes following the first application depending on pollinator activity and presence. When honey-sprayed vegetation attracted a high number of bees, all bees on the vegetation were collected using nets or jars during thirty-minute timed-sampling periods.

Hand collection along the three replicate transects was also conducted four times annually per transect in 2016-2018 between 0800 and 1400 h. All flowering trees, shrubs and herbaceous growth along roadsides at each sampled elevation were observed for flower visitors. Bees were collected using hand nets and jars. Thirty-minute timedobservation periods were also conducted at specific flowering plant species that occurred broadly across all elevations along the Main road elevational gradient and at small farms during the years 2017-2019, as well as within the thirteen sampling sites located in the Osa Peninsula during June 2017- July 2019.

Collected bees were preserved using 70% ethanol and exported to Eastern Kentucky University for identification and processing. Meliponini bees were identified to species using identification keys in Michener (2007) and in Jarau and Barth (2008). A Ceratinini bee reference collection was used to identify all Ceratinini bees, and reference bees were identified by Dr. Sandra Rehan.

Environmental Variables

Temperature and precipitation data were acquired from two stand-alone HOBO weather data loggers located at 900 m elevation in the San Luis Valley and at 1140 m elevation at the University of Georgia Costa Rica research station (www.weather.uga.edu). The loggers were placed in open, unshaded areas on relatively even terrain in order to obtain accurate total daily precipitation (mm) and average daily temperature (°C) readings across the elevation gradient. Historical average and maximum temperature data (1970-2000) was obtained from WorldClim version 2.1 (Fick and Hijmans 2017), a high resolution ($\sim 1 \text{ km}^2$) dataset consisting of spatially interpolated monthly climate data for global land areas obtained from up to 60,000 weather stations globally. Monthly average and maximum temperature data obtained from WorldClim v2 (Fick and Hijmans 2017) were used to visualize historical temperature regimes in the San Luis valley and to determine the historical variation in average and maximum monthly temperatures between 800 m and 1100 m elevation in the study area. Data was extracted and analyzed using the 'raster' and 'maps' packages of R versions 3.1-5 and 3.3.0 (Becker et al. 2018, Hijmans 2020), and visualized using the 'ggplot' function in the 'ggplot2' package of R version 3.3.0 (Wickham 2016). Precipitation data obtained from on-site HOBO data loggers was used to determine the variation in cumulative rainfall and the onset of the rainy season from 2016-2019.

Statistical Analysis

Bee Bowl Samples Analyses

The response variables of Ceratinini and Apini species abundance in bee bowls were analyzed using linear mixed models (LMM) using the packages 'car' of R version 3.0-8, 'lmerTest' of R version 3.1-2, and 'lme4' of R version 1.1-23 (Kuznetsova et al. 2017, Fox and Weisberg 2018). All models included a fixed effect of elevation and transect ID as the random effect. Likelihood ratio tests were used to assess the significance of the fixed effect of elevation on the response variables (Bolker et al. 2009). The fixed effects of sample year and sample season were also tested for the response variable of Ceratinini species abundance in bee bowls. Ceratinini species were considered to be too infrequently collected if fewer than 15 individuals of that species were collected in bee bowls, as these species made up less than 5% of all Ceratinini species collected in bee bowls from 2016-2018, and, consequently, were excluded from these analyses. Shapiro-Wilk statistic was used to assess distribution normality, and Levene's test was used to assess variance homogeneity (Sileshi 2007).

Honey Sprayed Vegetation Samples Analyses

Since bee bowls do not adequately sample bees from the tribe Meliponini (Gómez-Escobar et al. 2014), species belonging to this tribe were analyzed using data from presence/absence of each species at honey sprayed vegetation using generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) using the packages 'plyr', 'lmerTest', 'lme4', and 'MASS' (Wickham 2011, Venables and Ripley 2013, Kuznetsova et al. 2017). All models included a fixed effect of elevation and transect ID as the random effect. Likelihood ratio tests were used to assess the significance of the fixed effect of elevation on the response variables. Meliponini species were considered to be too infrequently collected if observed in five or fewer honey spray observations, as these species were present in less than 5% of all honey spray observations from 2018-2019. These infrequently collected species were excluded from these analyses.

Thirty-Minute Timed Samples Analyses

Bee presence/absence data obtained during thirty-minute timed-sampling flower observations from 2017-2019 were analyzed using generalized linear models (GLM) using the packages 'plyr', 'lmerTest', and 'MASS' (Wickham 2011, Venables and Ripley 2013, Kuznetsova et al. 2017). Each species was analyzed individually for the effect of elevation category on species presence using a binomial error distribution (Warton et al. 2016). Observations were grouped into 100 m elevation bands and assigned elevation categories as follows: Observations conducted between 750-850 m were categorized in the 800 m elevation band; observations between 851-950 m were categorized in the 900 m elevation band; observations between 951-1050 m were categorized in the 1000 m elevation band; and, observations conducted between 1051-1150 m were categorized into the 1100 m band. Likelihood ratio tests were performed in order to test the significance of the explanatory variable, elevation category, on species presence (Bolker et al. 2009). Species observed in 17 or fewer timed flower samples were considered to be too infrequently collected, as these species were present in less than 5% of all timed flower observations from 2017-2019. These infrequently collected species were excluded from these analyses.

Bee abundance data obtained during thirty-minute timed-sampling flower observations from 2017-2019 were analyzed using linear models (LM) using the package 'plyr' (Wickham 2011) to test the effect of elevation category and elevation zone on the response variable of species abundance. Chi-squared goodness of fit tests were used to assess equality in abundances between upper and lower elevation zones (Bolker et al. 2009). Observations occurring within the 800 m and 900 m elevation categories were classified as the lower zone, and observations occurring within the 1000 m and 1100 m elevation categories classified as the upper zone. Infrequently collected bee species observed in 17 or less timed flower samples were excluded from these analyses.

Bee Community Composition and Similarity Analyses

A constrained ordination was conducted using a canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) of Ceratinini, Meliponini, and Apini species composition at each sampled elevation on each of the 3 elevational transects using the 'cca' function available in the 'vegan' package of R version 2.5-6 (Oksanen et al. 2013), using quarter power transformation of a species matrix in order to reduce the effect that large variances in species abundances have on analysis, with singletons (n = 2) and doubletons (n = 1) removed. The results of a CCA can reveal whether the explanatory variables of transect (site) and elevation had a significant impact on the variation in bee community composition (Buttigieg and Ramette 2014). Biplot arrows represent explanatory variables and species belonging to the tribes Meliponini, Ceratinini, and Apini are represented by points accompanied with abbreviated species names. In order to compare the bee community composition of each sampled elevation, similarity of community composition among the elevation categories was analyzed using the 'SimilarityMult' function in the 'Spade-R' package of R version 0.1.1 (Chao et al. 2016), using the Morisita index to conduct multi-stage community comparisons with singletons (n = 4) removed. This approach is the most robust method for comparing

community overlap as it allows for concurrent analysis of several samples and among communities with a species overlap greater than two (Chao et al. 2008). Communities were considered to be statistically different if similarity values were less than 0.19 (Rodríguez-Castañeda et al. 2010).

RESULTS

A total of 967 samples were collected from the three elevational gradients during the four years of the study (2016-2019). The samples included 144 bee bowl samples, 69 vane trap samples, and 111 hand collected samples during 2016 to 2018; 524 samples from timed observations at flowering plants during 2017 to 2019; and 117 honey spray solution samples during 2018 to 2019. A total of 11,753 bees representing 30 species from the tribes Ceratinini, Meliponini and Apini were collected (**Table 1-1**). Eighteen of the 30 species were also collected from the second sampling location at 0 m elevation in the Osa Peninsula. Of the individuals collected from the elevational gradients in the San Luis Valley, 3825 individuals were collected from bee bowl samples, 28 individuals were collected from vane trap samples, 1051 individuals were hand-collected from flowers during hand collection samples, 2869 individuals were collected from flowers during thirty-minute timed flower samples, and 3980 individuals were collected from honey sprayed vegetation samples.

| Bee Species (Abbreviation) | 0 m | 800 m | 900 m | 1000 m | 1100 m |
|-----------------------------|-----|-------|-------|--------|--------|
| Apis mellifera (AM) | 545 | 360 | 236 | 363 | 305 |
| Ceratina auriviridi (CA) | 0 | 3 | 0 | 2 | 0 |
| Ceratina buscki (CB) | 1 | 21 | 13 | 10 | 3 |
| Ceratina chloris (CH) | 251 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Ceratina cobaltina (CC) | 0 | 4 | 7 | 6 | 2 |
| Ceratina dimidiata (CD) | 0 | 2 | 5 | 5 | 4 |
| <i>Ceratina eximia</i> (CE) | 1 | 27 | 22 | 21 | 2 |
| Ceratina ignara (CI) | 0 | 8 | 5 | 3 | 4 |

Table 1-1. Abundance of bee species collected in each elevation category across the replicate elevational gradients in the San Luis Valley and from 0 m in the Osa Peninsula, 2016-2019.
Table 1-1 (continued)

| Bee Species (Abbreviation) | 0 m | 800 m | 900 m | 1000 m | 1100 m |
|-------------------------------|------|-------|-------|--------|--------|
| Ceratina rectangulifera (CR) | 0 | 869 | 1302 | 1045 | 430 |
| Ceratina trimaculata (CT) | 1 | 34 | 87 | 159 | 167 |
| Ceratina zeteki (CK) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Cephalotrigona zexmeniae (CZ) | 4 | 7 | 50 | 1 | 0 |
| Melipona beechii (MB) | 0 | 0 | 1 | 5 | 1 |
| Melipona fallax (MF) | 0 | 4 | 4 | 2 | 27 |
| Melipona fasciata (MA) | 163 | 6 | 20 | 0 | 6 |
| Nannotrigona mellaria (NM) | 107 | 19 | 16 | 0 | 0 |
| Oxytrigona isthmina (OI) | 0 | 10 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Partamona orizabaensis (PO) | 198 | 294 | 153 | 82 | 669 |
| Plebeia frontalis (PF) | 5 | 22 | 156 | 75 | 6 |
| Plebeia pulchra (PP) | 0 | 39 | 179 | 236 | 110 |
| Scaptotrigona mexicana (SM) | 0 | 26 | 367 | 62 | 105 |
| Scaptotrigona pectoralis (SP) | 7 | 2 | 17 | 0 | 1 |
| Tetragona dorsalis (TD) | 72 | 65 | 21 | 64 | 5 |
| Tetragona perangulata (TP) | 53 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Tetragonisca angustula (TA) | 0 | 323 | 278 | 167 | 82 |
| Trigona corvina (TC) | 423 | 140 | 232 | 376 | 167 |
| Trigona fulviventris (TF) | 1298 | 168 | 154 | 361 | 473 |
| Trigona fuscipennis (TU) | 271 | 29 | 21 | 13 | 0 |
| Trigona silvestriana (TS) | 27 | 121 | 12 | 28 | 1 |
| Trigonisca buyssoni (TB) | 3 | 31 | 81 | 15 | 5 |

Across the three elevational gradients, a total of 2635 individuals of the three tribes were collected near 800 m elevation, a total of 3439 individuals were collected near 900 m elevation, a total of 3103 individuals were collected near 1000 m elevation, and 2576 individuals were collected near 1100 m elevation. A total of 4273 individuals were Ceratinini bees, 6216 were Meliponini bees, and 1264 individuals *Apis mellifera*, the only bee species in the study area that belongs to the tribe Apini.

Bee Abundance in Bee Bowls

A total of 3800 Ceratinini bees were collected in bee bowls during 2016-2018. The most abundant species collected in bee bowls was *Ceratina rectangulifera* (3350 individuals), and the second most abundant species was *Ceratina trimaculata* (422 individuals). No other Ceratinini bee species was collected in sufficient abundance using bee bowls to statistically test differences in their abundance between elevations. The abundance of *C. rectangulifera* (X^{2}_{6} = 9.01; p = 0.029) differed across elevations while the abundance of *C. trimaculata* (X^{2}_{6} = 7.73; p = 0.052) did not differ across elevations (**Table 1-2**).

Ceratina rectangulifera abundance was lowest at 1100 m compared to the other three elevations, while *C. trimaculata* had a significantly higher abundance at 1000 m and 1100 m elevation when compared to 800 m elevation ($X^2 = 157.89$; p = <0.001; **Figure 1-5**). Season of collection also had a significant effect on total Ceratinini abundance in bee bowls (i.e., the two species combined; $X^2 = 3346.4$; p = <0.001). On average, fewer individuals were collected during December samples (13 ± 3.92) compared to June-July samples (205 ± 45.61); (**Figure 1-6**).

Table 1-2. Results of generalized mixed model analyses testing for the effect ofelevation on the abundance of *C. rectangulifera* and *C. trimaculata* across replicatetransects, 2016-2018. Significance assessed using likelihood ratio tests.

| Species | Model | Degrees of freedom | AIC Score |
|---------|--------------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| CD | \sim 1+(1 Transect) | 3 | 26.01 |
| CR | (Elevation)+(1 Transect) | 6 | 22.997 |
| СТ | \sim 1+(1 Transect) | 3 | 43.554 |
| | (Elevation)+(1 Transect) | 6 | 41.826 |



Figure 1-5. Average abundances across three replicate transects of *Ceratina rectangulifera* and *Ceratina trimaculata* individuals obtained from bee bowls at each sampled elevation, 2016-2018.

Ceratina Seasonal Abundance



Figure 1-6. Seasonal variation of the average abundances of individuals collected in bee bowls belonging to the tribe Ceratinini in June, July, and December, 2016-2018.

Significantly fewer individuals were also collected in 2017 compared to 2016, with intermediate numbers of individuals collected in 2018 ($X^2 = 943.18$; p = <0.001). While I don't have enough years of data to draw conclusions, rainfall data show that there was a drought during the onset of the rainy season in 2017 with only ~18 mm of precipitation from 1 April- 31 May 2017 (**Figure 1-7**). In 2018 there was a delay in the onset of the rainy season.



Figure 1-7. Variation in cumulative rainfall and the number of rainy days observed during the onset of the rainy season, April-May, 2016-2019.

Bee Presence/ Absence in Honey Spray

A total of 16 Meliponini species were collected during honey sprayed vegetation sampling. Of these, six species were observed in five or fewer honey spray observations and were, therefore, considered to be too infrequently collected to statistically test (**Table 1-3**). Infrequently collected bees included *M. beechii* and *M. fallax*, which were only observed in the upper elevation zone, above 1000 m elevation. Other infrequently collected bees, *M. fasciata, N. mellaria*, and *T. fuscipennis*, were only observed in the lower elevation zone, < 950 m elevation. The species present in the highest number of samples were *T. angustula*, followed by *P. pulchra*, *P. orizabaensis*, *P. frontalis*, *T*. fulviventris, T. corvina, S. mexicana, T. buyssoni, T. dorsalis, and T. silvestriana. The

presence of *P. frontalis* (X²₃ = 9.77; p = 0.001), *T. dorsalis* (X²₃ = 4.81; p = 0.028),

Table 1-3. Proportion of honey spray samples containing Meliponini observations at each elevation in 2018-2019. Species present in five or fewer honey spray observations were excluded from statistical analyses and are in bold. Species found to have a statistically significant relationship between presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk.

| Species | 800 m | 900 m | 1000 m | 1100 m | Total Proportion |
|---------|-------|-------|--------|--------|-------------------------|
| MB | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.029 | 0.000 | 0.009 |
| MF | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.029 | 0.036 | 0.017 |
| MA | 0.042 | 0.033 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.017 |
| NM | 0.083 | 0.067 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.034 |
| РО | 0.375 | 0.133 | 0.176 | 0.357 | 0.248 |
| PF* | 0.208 | 0.633 | 0.088 | 0.036 | 0.239 |
| PP | 0.250 | 0.500 | 0.412 | 0.250 | 0.359 |
| SM | 0.083 | 0.167 | 0.118 | 0.214 | 0.145 |
| SP | 0.042 | 0.067 | 0.000 | 0.036 | 0.034 |
| TD* | 0.167 | 0.100 | 0.000 | 0.036 | 0.068 |
| TA* | 0.625 | 0.467 | 0.500 | 0.214 | 0.444 |
| TC | 0.208 | 0.133 | 0.176 | 0.143 | 0.162 |
| TF* | 0.458 | 0.167 | 0.088 | 0.179 | 0.205 |
| TU | 0.042 | 0.133 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.043 |
| TS* | 0.292 | 0.000 | 0.029 | 0.000 | 0.068 |
| TB | 0.208 | 0.200 | 0.059 | 0.071 | 0.128 |

T. angustula $(X_{3}^{2} = 5.77; p = 0.016)$, *T. fulviventris* $(X_{3}^{2} = 5.25; p = 0.021)$, and *T. silvestriana* $(X_{3}^{2} = 16.09; p = <0.001)$ differed across elevations (**Table 1-4**). The presence of *P. orizabaensis* $(X_{3}^{2} = 0.16; p = 0.686)$, *P. pulchra* $(X_{3}^{2} = 6.19; p = 0.103)$, *S. mexicana* $(X_{3}^{2} = 1.73; p = 0.189)$, *T. corvina* $(X_{3}^{2} = 0.008; p = 0.930)$, and *T. buyssoni* $(X_{3}^{2} = 0.065; p = 0.982)$ did not differ among elevations.

| Species | Model | Degrees of freedom | AIC Score |
|---------|------------------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| DO | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 123.41 |
| PO | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 125.42 |
| DE* | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 121.58 |
| Pr · | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 113.81 |
| DD | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 138.04 |
| PP | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 140.04 |
| SM | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 95.55 |
| 5111 | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 95.82 |
| тр* | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 59.59 |
| ID. | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 56.78 |
| ΤΛ* | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 143.93 |
| IA | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 140.16 |
| ТР | $\sim 1+(1 \text{Transect})$ | 2 | 84.26 |
| ID | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 82.85 |
| ТС | $\sim 1+(1 \text{Transect})$ | 2 | 70.38 |
| IC | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 72.38 |
| ТГ* | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 114.76 |
| 11, | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 111.51 |
| тс* | ~1+(1 Transect) | 2 | 57.31 |
| 12* | ~Elevation+(1 Transect) | 3 | 43.22 |

Table 1-4. Results of binomial generalized mixed model analyses testing for the effect of elevation on the presence of Meliponini species present in greater than five honey spray observations, 2018-2019. Species found to have a statistically significant relationship between presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk.

Bee Presence/ Absence in Timed Flower Observations

A total of 26 bee species from the three focal tribes were collected from flowers during thirty-minute timed observations in 2017-2019. Of these, 15 species were observed in 17 or less timed flower observations and were, therefore, considered to be too infrequently collected to statistically test (**Table 1-5**). Infrequently collected bee species *C. chloris, M. beechii,* and *S. pectoralis,* were each collected in only one timed flower observation.

| Species | 800 | 900 | 1000 | 1100 | Total Proportion |
|---------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------------------------|
| AM | 0.160 | 0.175 | 0.122 | 0.229 | 0.177 |
| СА | 0.010 | 0.000 | 0.008 | 0.000 | 0.004 |
| СВ | 0.060 | 0.026 | 0.053 | 0.006 | 0.032 |
| СН | 0.010 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.002 |
| CC | 0.010 | 0.044 | 0.038 | 0.011 | 0.025 |
| CD | 0.010 | 0.018 | 0.015 | 0.011 | 0.013 |
| CE | 0.040 | 0.018 | 0.069 | 0.006 | 0.031 |
| CR* | 0.210 | 0.079 | 0.130 | 0.034 | 0.101 |
| СТ | 0.000 | 0.009 | 0.023 | 0.028 | 0.017 |
| CZ | 0.030 | 0.026 | 0.008 | 0.000 | 0.013 |
| MB | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.008 | 0.000 | 0.002 |
| MF | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.008 | 0.034 | 0.013 |
| MA | 0.000 | 0.026 | 0.000 | 0.011 | 0.010 |
| NM | 0.030 | 0.026 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.011 |
| PO | 0.140 | 0.167 | 0.069 | 0.229 | 0.158 |
| PF* | 0.050 | 0.158 | 0.046 | 0.000 | 0.055 |
| PP* | 0.130 | 0.149 | 0.137 | 0.034 | 0.103 |
| SM | 0.050 | 0.061 | 0.031 | 0.067 | 0.053 |
| SP | 0.010 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.002 |
| TD* | 0.140 | 0.061 | 0.153 | 0.017 | 0.084 |
| TA* | 0.240 | 0.272 | 0.153 | 0.028 | 0.153 |
| TC* | 0.160 | 0.105 | 0.084 | 0.017 | 0.080 |
| TF* | 0.230 | 0.386 | 0.496 | 0.525 | 0.431 |
| TU | 0.060 | 0.026 | 0.015 | 0.000 | 0.021 |
| TS* | 0.190 | 0.026 | 0.038 | 0.006 | 0.053 |
| ТВ | 0.070 | 0.044 | 0.031 | 0.000 | 0.031 |

Table 1-5. Proportion of timed flower observations at each elevation in 2017-2019. Species present in 17 or fewer timed flower observations were excluded from statistical analyses and are in bold. Species found to have a statistically significant relationship among presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk.

Ceratina chloris, N. mellaria, and *S. pectoralis* were only observed in the lower elevation zone, while *M. beechii* and *M. fallax* were only observed at the upper elevation zone. *Cephalotrigona zexmeniae, T. buyssoni,* and *T. fuscipennis* were observed at all elevations except for 1100 m, while *C. trimaculata* was observed at all elevations except for 800 m. All other infrequently collected bee species were observed in both elevation zones or at all elevations. The most frequently collected species included *A. mellifera*, *C. rectangulifera*, *P. orizabaensis*, *P. frontalis*, *P. pulchra*, *S. mexicana*, *T. dorsalis*, *T. angustula*, *T. corvina*, *T. fulviventris*, and *T. silvestriana*.

The presence of *C. rectangulifera* ($X^{2}_{2} = 16.32$; p = <0.001), *P. frontalis* ($X^{2}_{2} = 12.08$; p = <0.001), *P. pulchra* ($X^{2}_{2} = 8.63$; p = 0.003), *T. dorsalis* ($X^{2}_{2} = 8.27$; p = 0.004), *T. angustula* ($X^{2}_{2} = 34.19$; p = <0.001), *T. corvina* ($X^{2}_{2} = 18.69$; p = <0.001), *T. fulviventris* ($X^{2}_{2} = 29.69$; p = <0.001), and *T. silvestriana* ($X^{2}_{2} = 33.75$; p = <0.001) differed across elevations (**Table 1-6; Figure 1-8**), while the presence of *A. mellifera* ($X^{2}_{2} = 1.98$; p = 0.160), *P. orizabaensis* ($X^{2}_{2} = 2.99$; p = 0.083), and *S. mexicana* ($X^{2}_{2} = 0.17$; p = 0.681) were not significantly different among elevations.

Table 1-6. Results of binomial generalized mixed model analyses testing for the effect of elevation on the presence of bee species present in greater than 17 timed flower observations, 2017-2019. Species found to have a statistically significant relationship between presence and elevation are indicated with an asterisk.

| Species | Model | Degrees of Freedom | AIC Score |
|---------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| | Presence~1 | 1 | 454.91 |
| Alvi | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 454.94 |
| CD* | Presence~1 | 1 | 325.18 |
| CK | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 310.85 |
| РО | Presence~1 | 1 | 427.29 |
| | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 426.29 |
| PF* | Presence~1 | 1 | 215.5 |
| | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 205.42 |
| DD* | Presence~1 | 1 | 329.12 |
| PP ' | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 322.49 |
| SM | Presence~1 | 1 | 210.17 |
| SM | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 212 |
| | | | |

| Species | Model | Degrees of Freedom | AIC Score |
|-----------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| TD* | Presence~1 | 1 | 287.65 |
| ID^{*} | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 281.38 |
| ΤΔ* | Presence~1 | 1 | 418.44 |
| IA ⁺ | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 386.24 |
| TC* | Presence~1 | 1 | 278.78 |
| | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 262.09 |
| TF* | Presence~1 | 1 | 608.75 |
| | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 581.06 |
| TS* | Presence~1 | 1 | 210.17 |
| | Presence~ElevationCAT | 2 | 178.42 |

Table 1-6 (continued)



Figure 1-8. A subset of 2878 bees representing three tribes from a total of 3919 bees that were collected directly excluded from statistical analysis. An asterisk denotes a statistically significant effect of elevation on bee species from flowering plant species during 30-minute timed observations. Species present in 17 or fewer samples were presence using a binomial glm (p< 0.05). Each red dot is one individual.

Bee Abundance in Timed Flower Observations

A total of 2878 Ceratinini, Meliponini, and Apini bees were collected during thirty-minute timed flower observations in 2017-2019. Fifteen bee species were observed in 17 or fewer samples and were considered to be too infrequently collected to statistically test. Abundances of *A. mellifera* ($X^2_1 = 1.45.75$; p = <0.001), *C. rectangulifera* ($X^2_1 = 39.51$; p = <0.001), *P. orizabaensis* ($X^2_1 = 30.15$; p = <0.001), *P. frontalis* ($X^2_1 = 14.08$; p = <0.001), *P. pulchra* ($X^2_1 = 6.13$; p = 0.013), *T. angustula* ($X^2_1 = 46.8$; p = <0.001), *T. fulviventris* ($X^2_1 = 410.73$; p = <0.001), and *T. silvestriana* ($X^2_1 = 9.33$; p = 0.002) significantly differed among upper and lower elevation zones (**Table 1-7**). The abundances of *S. mexicana* ($X^2_1 = 0.17$; p = 0.68), *T. dorsalis* ($X^2_1 =$ 1.66; p = 0.198), and *T. corvina* ($X^2_1 = 2.62$; p = 0.106) were not significantly different among elevation zones. Only the abundance of *T. fulviventris* ($F_{1,2} = 30.17$; p = 0.032) significantly differed across elevation categories, however, the abundance analyses did not include observations when the bee species was not observed, i.e. timed flower samples where bee abundance was zero.

Table 1-7. Linear model results for the effect of elevation category and elevation zone on frequently collected Apini, Ceratinini, and Meliponini species frequencies in thirty-minute timed flower observations, 2017-2019. Significance assessed using Chi-square goodness-of-fit tests.

| Species | Model | Degrees of Freedom | P-value |
|---------|-------------------|-----------------------|---------|
| AM | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.087 |
| | freq~Zone | 1 | < 0.001 |
| CR | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.147 |
| | freq~Zone | 1 | < 0.001 |

| Table 1-7 | (continued) |
|-----------|-------------|
|-----------|-------------|

| Species | Model | Degrees of Freedom | P-value |
|---------|-------------------|-----------------------|---------|
| DO | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.226 |
| ro | freq~Zone | 1 | < 0.001 |
| DE | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.939 |
| ΓΓ' | freq~Zone | 1 | < 0.001 |
| DD | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.362 |
| | freq~Zone | 1 | 0.013 |
| SM | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.682 |
| | freq~Zone | 1 | 0.68 |
| TD | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.696 |
| ID | freq~Zone | 1 | 0.198 |
| ТΛ | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.221 |
| IA | freq~Zone | 1 | < 0.001 |
| ТС | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.709 |
| IC | freq~Zone | 1 | 0.106 |
| ТЕ | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.032 |
| 11 | freq~Zone | 1 | < 0.001 |
| TS | freq~ElevationCAT | 2 | 0.212 |
| 15 | freq~Zone | 1 | 0.002 |

Bee Community Similarity and Composition

A total of 5678 bees belonging to 24 species were used in the constrained ordination. Samples used in this analysis included all Apini, Ceratinini, and Meliponini samples obtained using bee bowls, honey sprayed vegetation, vane traps, and hand collection sampling on all three transects during 2016-2018. The effects of elevation and transect ID explained 41.7% of the variation in bee community composition across the elevation gradient ($F_{pseudo3,8} = 1.91$, p = 0.002; **Figure 1-9**). Elevation and transect ID each explained ~21% of the variation in bee community composition (20.9%; $F_{pseudo(1,8)} = 2.52$, p = 0.004; 20.8%; $F_{pseudo(2,8)} = 1.60$, p = 0.037). Bee species associated

with higher elevations included *T. corvina*, *T. dorsalis*, *T. fulviventris*, *C. trimaculata*, and *P. pulchra*.



Figure 1-9. Canonical correspondence analysis ordination revealing elevation and site to be significant in explaining ~42% of the variation in bee community composition across an elevation gradient, 2016-2018.

Bee species associated with lower elevations included *C. rectangulifera*, *T. silvestriana*, *P. frontalis*, and *T. angustula*.

Multiple stage similarity comparisons were conducted on the entirety of Apini, Ceratinini, and Meliponini samples collected from 2016-2019. Similarity comparisons demonstrated high community similarity values and low turnover among the elevation categories (**Table 1-8**). Bee communities at 800 m and 900 m exhibit the highest degree of similarity in my system (mean Morisita similarity value *c*. 0.989), while bee communities at 900 m and 1100 m exhibit the highest degree of dissimilarity (mean Morisita similarity value *c*. 0.836). The community present within the 1100 m elevation category exhibited the highest degree of dissimilarity with all other elevation categories.

| individuals costi ved in | un bumping n | ietiiette, singietei | iii i c iiii cu, 2010 | 2017. |
|--------------------------|--------------|----------------------|------------------------------|--------|
| Elevation Category | 800 m | 900 m | 1000 m | 1100 m |
| 800 m | 1.000 | 0.989 | 0.987 | 0.871 |
| 900 m | | 1.000 | 0.977 | 0.836 |
| 1000 m | | | 1.000 | 0.930 |
| 1100 m | | | | 1.000 |

Table 1-8. Community similarity matrix including Apini, Ceratinini, and Meliponini individuals observed in all sampling methods, singletons removed, 2016-2019.

DISCUSSION

Quantifying the vulnerability of pollination services to global climate change in Neotropical montane regions will require a better understanding of how the primary service providers are distributed altitudinally, as well as the driving factors behind their altitudinal distributions (Chen et al. 2009b, Rodríguez-Castañeda et al. 2010, Hoiss et al. 2015). Focusing on a subset of the most commonly collected bee species from the Pacific slopes of Costa Rica, I report that the presence of 9 of 26 bee species were significantly different by elevation, and 14 of the remaining 17 were collected too infrequently to statistically estimate differences among elevation. The observed elevational specialization could be due to biotic factors, such as mutualistic relationships (Olesen and Jordano 2002, Benadi et al. 2014) and competition for floral resources (Hoiss et al. 2012, Chan et al. 2019), or abiotic factors, such as thermal or desiccation tolerances (Longino and Colwell 2011, Theobald et al. 2016, Coutinho et al. 2018).

In this study I did not directly test bee species for their thermal limits, however, my results suggest that a combination of thermal tolerance and biotic factors may account for the observed patterns of elevational specialization. For example, the two species that were most commonly collected in bee bowls, *Ceratina rectangulifera* and *C. trimaculata*, were observed at all elevations across the elevational gradient studied, but C. *rectangulifera*, although more common overall, was observed more frequently in the lower zone, while C. *trimaculata* was observed more frequently in the upper zone. *Ceratina rectangulifera* and *trimaculata* are species similar in body size, color, floral resource use, and nesting habitat (Michener 2007, Engel 2015, Rehan et al. 2015), yet

these species exhibit dissimilar elevational specialization, suggesting spatial niche partitioning potentially as a result of interspecific interference competition (Gottlieb et al. 2005, Gonzalez et al. 2020). Patterns of several other bee species analyzed in this study suggest that the species are lower elevation specialists. For example, C. chloris, N. mellaria, T. perangulata, and C. zexmeniae were only infrequently observed in the lower elevation zone but were also observed frequently near sea-level at the second study site in the Osa Peninsula. One stingless bee species found to be a lower zone specialist in our study area, T. angustula, is kept throughout Costa Rica because its honey has medicinal properties (Aguilar et al. 2012). Because of its economic importance, one study evaluated the hive's productivity along an elevational gradient, and found a relationship between productivity and temperature (Brosi 2009). Farmers in the study area have also attempted to keep hives in boxes unsuccessfully above 1100 m elevation. My study indicates that the distribution of *T. angustula* across the elevational gradient will expand at higher elevations and contract at lower elevations in response to climate change scenarios. This could potentially supplement the possible reduction in pollination services at higher elevations that may result from the loss of high-elevation bee species in response to projected climate change scenarios. Finally, a few bee species, such as A. mellifera, T. fulviventris, and S. mexicana, did not show elevational specialization, and evidence supports that these bee species are both generalists in resource use and have broad thermal tolerances (Roubik 1981, Martínez-Hernández et al. 1994, Atmowidjojo et al. 1997, Pinkus-Rendon et al. 2005). Tropical montane pollination services may be robust to climate change if services provided by these generalists are as effective as the entire assemblage.

Because the narrow altitudinal ranges associated with tropical species has been equated with limited thermal tolerance, much climate change research at low latitudes has focused on species tolerance to temperature extremes (García-Robledo et al. 2016). However, habitat specialization or biotic factors such as competition, predation and the absence of mutualists can further restrict elevational ranges beyond the species' fundamental niche (Ghalambor et al. 2006, HilleRisLambers et al. 2013, Aguirre-Jaimes et al. 2018). A more comprehensive approach to quantifying species response to climate change therefore should evaluate non-climatic and climatic factors influencing species elevational distributions. Irrespective of a species thermal limits, the upslope and poleward movement of species globally will lead to the creation of novel biotic interactions, communities, habitats, and moisture regimes or may decouple important biotic interactions, likely posing a greater risk for tropical species (Urban et al. 2012).

Studies from temperate mountain dwelling pollinator communities have predicted that species will expand their ranges at the cool, upper elevational limits and contract their ranges at the warm, lower elevational limits, creating novel communities where competition may lead to local extirpation or extinction (Murray et al. 2009, Kocsis and Hufnagel 2011). If bee species in my study that were more frequently observed in the lower elevation zone (<1000 m), such as *P. frontalis*, *T. silvestriana*, and *C. rectangulifera*, shift their ranges 600 m upslope, as predicted for all biota in the tropics (Colwell et al. 2008), these species could potentially be confronted with competing species such as *M. beechii*, *M. fallax*, and *C. trimaculata*, species that were more frequently observed in the upper elevation zone. These upper zone specialists, however, will be confronted with the disappearance of their thermal habitat on short

mountains, such as the Monteverde mountain in the Tilarán Cordillera (1800 m highest peak; the location of this study) if they shift their ranges 600 m upslope as predicted. Most research aimed at quantifying altitudinal distributions of species in Costa Rica has been conducted on the two mountain ranges in the southern half of the country, which have much taller peaks (>2500 m elevation) compared to the two mountain ranges in the northern half of the country, the Guanacaste and Tilarán Cordilleras, that are comprised of relatively short mountains with the highest peaks from 1500-2000 m elevation (Barrantes 2009). In my study, lower zone bee species with distributions of 800-1000 m elevation will be the species predicted to replace species at the top of short mountains (1400-1600 m elevation), while upper zone species that I only observed around 1100 m elevation are species that are predicted to move off the top (Sheldon 2019). Several of the upper zone specialists, including *M. beechii* and *M. fallax*, are economically important stingless bee species that were traditionally kept throughout Central America for honey, but are now considered to be rare species throughout much of their previous range (Aguilar et al. 2012). Future work should aim to simulate how these novel bee communities and extirpations might impact local food security as well as cash crops.

My study spanned multiple years, with a total of 264 hours collecting bees directly from flowers, as well as 37 days trapping bees in bee bowls, collecting bees from roadside and farm vegetation, vane traps, and honey spray samples. After extensive sampling, fourteen bee species from my focal tribes were collected too infrequently during timed observations to statistically analyze differences in their presences across the elevation gradient. Rare bee species, as well as small-bodied

species with peak abundances in narrow elevation ranges, both have high extinction risk, as smaller-bodied bees have been documented as easily displaced when bee communities also include larger bees (Frankie et al. 1997), and rare species can be displaced by common species due to overlap in resource use (Steffan-Dewenter and Tscharntke 2000), suggesting that small or uncommon bee species may exhibit speciesspecific responses to changes in temperature and thermal limits that may be significantly defined by species morphological traits or interspecific competition (Cane and Neff 2011, Gonzalez et al. 2020). An alternative explanation for the infrequency of these particular bee species in my dataset may be that I primarily sampled from treelets, shrubs and herbaceous plants (Cane et al. 2000, Roulston et al. 2007), and I did not sample sufficiently from the preferred plant species of these bee species. Additionally, this study takes place on a narrow elevational gradient, which may under sample bee species with elevational ranges occurring above or below the study area.

The significant relationship observed among the pollinator community and elevation, coupled with bee sensitivity to changing and increasing temperatures (Dixon et al. 2009, Hoiss et al. 2012), suggests species distributions and elevation specialization may, at least in part, be driven by changes and increases in temperature as a result of climate warming (Parmesan and Yohe 2003, García-Robledo et al. 2016). Additionally, ectotherms exhibit low thermal tolerance plasticity (Gunderson and Stillman 2015), although species may compensate for this by shifting active foraging times to cooler parts of the day or seeking out cooler microclimates (Sheldon 2019). Precipitation patterns and rainfall gradients may also have an effect on bee assemblages and distribution patterns (Wolda 1988). The observed abundances of *Ceratina*

rectangulifera and trimaculata appear to exhibit interannual fluctuations reflecting seasonal rainfall patterns in the study area, with low abundances observed during the dry season and high abundances during the rainy season. The onset of the rainy season in the study area falls between April and May of each year, with annual variations occurring typically in response to the position of the tropical rain belt, associated with the Inter-Tropical Convergence Zone, and El Niño-Southern Oscillation patterns (Dupont et al. 2010, Srygley et al. 2010). Higher precipitation frequency during the rainy season may create lower ambient temperatures that allow these species to exhibit higher foraging activity during the sampling period, thus indicating low thermal plasticity and/ or critical thermal maximums (García-Robledo et al. 2016, Gonzalez et al. 2020). Increased precipitation following a prolonged dry period may result in increased foraging activity, by increasing availability of floral resources in the tropics, reflected as higher observed bee abundances during the rainy season than the dry season (Maia-Silva et al. 2015, Aleixo et al. 2017). Fluctuations in Ceratinini seasonal abundances may also be due to seasonality in reproduction, as seasonal hibernacula have also been observed (Michener 1985, Santos et al. 2019). However, shifting patterns of precipitation could alter the timing and duration of flowering, and more frequent droughts during the onset of the rainy season could shorten the duration of the peak flowering season as well as the numbers of flowers produced per individual plant, reducing foraging activity and, ultimately, the average life span of pollinator species (Van Schaik et al. 1993, Aleixo et al. 2014).

Since tropical insects are generally regarded as thermal specialists (Dixon et al. 2009), the temperature range that supports physiological function is narrow (Janzen

1967, Sunday et al. 2014). Observed species' preferences for the lower elevation zone (800-900 m) in my study system may be explained by the mid-domain effect, which may exhibit a relatively higher amount of pressure on the distribution of species more likely to be constrained by geographic boundaries (Jetz and Rahbek 2002, Colwell et al. 2004). For example, the distribution of larger-ranged species, as found in geometrid moths along an elevational gradient in Costa Rica (Brehm et al. 2007), were more likely to be constrained by geographic boundaries than smaller-ranged species, whose distributions have been shown to be driven by the effects of environmental or historical factors (Rehan et al. 2010, Carneiro et al. 2014). If tropical bees follow this trend, then my results indicate that the mid-domain effect would exhibit higher pressure on the distribution of larger-ranged species, such as *M. fasciata* and *M. fallax* (Araujo et al. 2004), as these species are more likely to be constrained by the mid-domain effect than smaller-ranged species, such as C. chloris and C. zexmeniae, and are, therefore, at a higher risk of local extirpation (Sunday et al. 2014). However, studies examining the distribution of leaf-litter ants in Costa Rica found that temperature was the leading predictor for determining species richness and ant worker density, and the observed ranges across the elevational gradient revealed species with broad ranges at lower elevations and species with narrow ranges at mid to upper elevations (Longino and Colwell 2011). Some species, including *M. beechii*, *M. fasciata*, and *N. mellaria*, reflect these distribution patterns, with *M. beechii* exhibiting a narrow range at 1000-1100 m, and *M. fasciata* and *N. mellaria* exhibiting a broad elevation range from 0-900 m. However, other species, such as C. chloris and T. perangulata, exhibit narrow ranges at lower elevations. Moreover, my findings support the hypothesis that there may be a

threshold beyond which temperature and resource abundance begin to limit montane insect abundance at higher elevations, as is thought to be a major limiting factor for invertebrate pollinators in the tropics (Colwell et al. 2008).

In addition to the threats many species face in response to warming temperatures (Hegland et al. 2009), climate-related extirpation has been documented at significantly higher rates for tropical species than temperate species, and prominent extirpation risk is expected for montane species as they shift upward in elevation, limiting accessible habitat and floral resources (Chen et al. 2009b, Beck et al. 2016). Mutualistic partners face additional threats in response to climate change, as species are not likely to respond to warming temperatures similarly (Bartomeus et al. 2011); Plant and pollinator species may not be capable of rapidly shifting to a new climate envelope, resulting in spatial mismatches among mutualistic partners, or extinction (Colwell et al. 2004, Burkle et al. 2013), and phenological shifts, such as timing of emergence or flowering, may be altered by warming temperatures resulting in temporal mismatches among mutualistic partners (Kearns et al. 1998, Hoiss et al. 2015, Pacheco Filho et al. 2015).

Elevation specialization may be driven by many individual or combined variables, including temperature and precipitation patterns, species-specific critical thermal maximums, landscape variation and habitat fragmentation, floral resource use, and mutualistic relationships (Deutsch et al. 2008, Colwell et al. 2008, Maia-Silva et al. 2015, Basu et al. 2016). Calculating the critical thermal maximum for each focal species may aid in discerning the role of temperature in patterns of elevation specialization, as well as determining the role that bee morphological traits play in determining species thermal limits (García-Robledo et al. 2016, Gonzalez et al. 2020). Additionally,

exploring habitat heterogeneity across the three replicate transects in my study system is necessary in order to further understand how landscape variability plays a role in determining bee community composition and individual species distributions (Raffa et al. 2008, Brosi et al. 2008). Interspecific interference competition may play a part in determining bee species' distributions across an elevation gradient, as individuals compete for available and preferred floral resources in a geographically bounded system (Pinkus-Rendon et al. 2005, Aslan et al. 2013). Additionally, flowering duration, daily and across seasons, is expected to vary in response to increasing temperatures and sporadic rainfall patterns due to climate warming (Opler et al. 1976, Newstrom et al. 1994). In response, bee species may be at an even higher risk for interspecific competition as spatial and temporal phenological mismatches with key mutualistic partners provide an unreliable food resource (Junker et al. 2013, Goulson et al. 2015).

Tropical forests contain 60% of global biodiversity in 6% of the global surface area (Bawa 1990), and 98-99% of the plant species producing the food resource base for tropical wildlife rely on animal pollination (Deutsch et al. 2008), yet few studies have examined the response of bee species to warming temperatures, and most are limited to temperate zones (Chen et al. 2009b). Dry forests make up approximately 42% of tropical vegetation (Murphy and Lugo 1986). The seasonally arid Pacific slopes of the Central American mountains not only harbor the most endangered tropical forest type (Janzen 1988, Stan and Sanchez-Azofeifa 2019), but they also harbor the most at-risk species assemblages under modified climate scenarios primarily due to drastic alterations in precipitation regimes (McCain and Colwell 2011). Despite the biomes importance, Dry forests remains severely understudied compared to humid forests (Stan

and Sanchez-Azofeifa 2019). Dry forests contain many endemic species, as well as understudied plant groups and invertebrates (Olesen and Jordano 2002). Consequently, future work should aim to focus on this poorly studied ecosystem and prioritize longterm studies of plant-pollinator relationships and physiological ranges in order to gain a deeper understanding of the driving factors in elevation range specialization. Tropical dry forests are also mostly only found in Northern Costa Rica where there are short mountains. My findings suggest a high degree of elevation specialization in neotropical montane pollinators, however, establishing a connection between elevation specialization and the factors driving that specialization can be difficult due to natural fluctuations in tropical species populations over time (Wolda 1988, Sheldon 2019), and the lack of long term data (Sakai and Kitajima 2019). Nevertheless, more research is necessary to understand large-scale patterns of species diversity, specifically regarding pollinators, as plant-pollinator relationships are an invaluable ecosystem service to biodiversity maintenance and humanity (Klein et al. 2008, Sánchez-Bayo and Wyckhuys 2019).

POLLINATOR COMMUNITY COMPOSITION OF *PERSEA AMERICANA* AND *CUCURBITA PEPO* ON AN ELEVATION GRADIENT: IMPLICATIONS FOR CROP POLLINATION

INTRODUCTION

Plant-pollinator interactions are a critical ecosystem service of great economic and agricultural value; without pollinators, many plants could not set seed and reproduce, and without plants to provide rewards, such as pollen and nectar, many animal populations would decline (Kearns et al. 1998). Plant-pollinator interactions are under increasing threat from anthropogenic sources, including fragmentation of habitat, changes in land use, modern agricultural practices, and invasions of non-native plants and animals (Vanbergen and the Insect Pollinators Initiative 2013). Animal pollination is thought to be a key factor in the diversification of some major groups of plants and animals, as animal-mediated pollination permits for greater genetic variability, diversity, and robustness to extinctions within populations of plants by allowing for outcrossing of genetic material, leading to a greater diversity of resources for animals at higher trophic levels (Johnson 2010, Neuschulz et al. 2016). In tropical communities, 94% of flowering plants are animal pollinated, and 98-99% of the plant species producing resources for wildlife in tropical forests rely on animal-pollination (Bawa 1990, Ollerton et al. 2011, Watts et al. 2016). Pollination services are of particular importance for maintaining biodiversity in tropical areas that are considered to be epicenters of biodiversity (Balvanera et al. 2005, Kennedy et al. 2013), as biotic pollination importance increases with decreasing latitudes (Olesen and Jordano 2002).

The value of the ecosystem services provided by pollinators can be demonstrated by human reliance on animal-pollinated crops; 75% of the world's leading food crops show increased fruit or seed set when exposed to animal-mediated pollination (Kearns et al. 1998). While pollination services are key to the pollination of many crops and wild plants, crop pollination is commonly specified as an endangered ecosystem service (Corbet et al. 1991, Allen-Wardell et al. 1998, Klein et al. 2007). Smallholder agriculture represents 83% of the global agricultural population (> 2 billion people) and many of the agricultural plantations present in the tropics (Garibaldi et al. 2016); many economically important tropical crops such as coffee, habanero peppers, cashews, and West Indian cherry depend on bees for pollination services (Freitas et al. 1999, Macias-Macias et al. 2009, Classen et al. 2014). However, pollination services in tropical montane ecosystems are potentially more sensitive to climate change than lowland or temperate systems as they consist of a higher proportion of functionally specialized interactions (Olesen and Jordano 2002). Plant-pollinator interactions may be particularly sensitive to climate change-associated shifts in temperature and precipitation regimes (Theobald et al. 2016), causing phenological mismatches among mutualistic partners, and increasing the risk of widowhood, local extirpation of plants and pollinators, and subsequent cascading effects on biodiversity (Bartomeus et al. 2011, Aslan et al. 2013, Sánchez-Bayo and Wyckhuys 2019). While much work has focused on quantifying pollination services across land use gradients, research aimed at understanding if pollination services differ along elevational gradients is scarce, despite the important implications for how warming temperatures might impact pollination.

Bees are considered to be the most highly effective pollinators due to the presence of specialized hair-like structures used to collect pollen, as well as their necessity for pollen, nectar, and essential oils for brood, and specialized foraging behaviors (James and Pitts-Singer 2008). Globally, bee species face multiple threats including climate change, deforestation, pesticides, agricultural intensification and invasive species, and Neotropical bee populations are as threatened as global bee populations (Freitas et al. 2009). The Pantropical bee tribe Meliponini consists of species that are social, stingless bees that produce honey and whose native range is limited to the tropics, subtropics, and the temperate areas of the southern hemisphere (Kaluza et al. 2018). Meliponini have been found to be important pollinators in the tropics, as previous studies have found species in this tribe to be the primary pollinators of coffee and contribute to the pollination of >60 other tropical crops (Ricketts et al. 2004, Brosi 2009, Peters et al. 2012, Campbell et al. 2018). Meliponini are also generally considered to be polylectic, generalist foragers, rather than specializing on specific plant species or traits (Eltz et al. 2001). Other neotropical bee species that have been found to be important crop pollinators belong to the tribes Euglossini, Eucerini, Ceratinini, and the introduced bee species Apis mellifera (Jha and Vandermeer 2009, Briggs et al. 2013, Delgado-Carrillo et al. 2018).

In tropical agroforests, two insect-pollinated plantation crops, squash and avocado, represent two different breeding systems and are predicted to receive a diverse suite of pollinators and bee functional groups. Avocado, *Persea americana* Mill. (Lauraceae), is native to Central America and has a protogynous dichogamy reproductive strategy that ensures cross-pollination (Mcgregor 1976, Ish-Am and

Eisikowitch 1993). Stingless bees from the tribe Meliponini have been found to be effective pollinators of avocado, within Meliponini native ranges (Can-Alonzo et al. 2005, Perez-Balam et al. 2012), however, Apis mellifera have been found to be the primary, yet unreliable, pollinators of avocado outside of avocado native ranges (Ish-Am et al. 1999). Squash, *Cucurbita* spp. (Cucurbitaceae), is a globally recognized important food crop and is commonly utilized in pollination service studies due to the obligate outcrossing nature of the breeding system (Vidal et al. 2010). Seed set in *Cucurbita* spp. is directly correlated to measures of pollination success due to pollen limitations on seed production (Mcgregor 1976, Kishan et al. 2017). The primary pollinator species of *Cucurbita* spp. have been shown to vary between the wet and dry seasons in tropical dry forests; genera belonging to the tribe Eucerini, Peponapis and *Xenoglossa*, have been found to be the most frequent and effective pollinator visitors during tropical dry forest wet seasons, whereas *Apis mellifera* were found to be the most frequent pollinating visitor during the tropical dry forest dry season (Tepedino 1981, Delgado-Carrillo et al. 2018).

Declines in global pollinator abundances has resulted in a reduction in crop yields and crop pollination services (Millenium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). The paucity of scientific studies aimed at understanding how warming temperatures and changing patterns of precipitation may impact this essential and endangered ecosystem service is remarkable given the significant value of crop pollination for global food security. Some studies have found that native pollinator species are more effective in fruit and seed production than introduced species (Garibaldi et al. 2013, Gibbs et al. 2016). Honey bees continue to be critical pollinator species for many agroecosystems

(Perez-Balam et al. 2012), yet a global decline in honeybee populations and the nature of the honeybee's pollination method may make this species unreliable for sustaining or increasing crop yields (Klein et al. 2003, Ricketts et al. 2004). Here, I focus on quantifying pollinator assemblages to *Cucurbita* spp. and *Persea americana* within their native ranges, and along an elevational gradient in the tropics, in an effort to understand whether tropical pollination services differ along elevational gradients. My main objectives were to (i) quantify bee community composition at both crop species along an elevational gradient, (ii) calculate bee community similarity, comparing elevations spanning two agriculturally important tropical life zones, the lower zone of Tropical Dry Forest, and an upper zone of Tropical Premontane Forest. For *Cucurbita pepo*, bee visitation rates were determined across an elevational gradient during the wet (May-November) and dry (December- April) seasons of 2019. For *Persea americana*, bee visitation rates across the elevation gradient were quantified during its flowering period in December of 2018 and 2019.

METHODS

Study Site

Fifteen smallholder farms and residential properties were located on an elevation gradient spanning 700-1150 m above sea-level in the San Luis Valley of Monteverde, Puntarenas, Costa Rica (10°16' N, 84°48-49' W; **Figure 2-1**). The San Luis Valley is located on the Pacific slope of the Tilarán mountain range from approximately 500 to 1200 m above sea-level. The study area is comprised of tropical dry forest, with low humidity during the dry season (20-60% day time average humidity; Janzen 1988), and pre-montane forest with consistently perhumid conditions (Freiberg 1997), and daily temperatures averaging ~19 °C (Harvey 2000). The rainy season lasts from May to November, with mean precipitation of 200-600 mm per month.



Figure 2-1. Sites selected for *P. americana* and *C. pepo* sampling across an elevational gradient located in San Luis de Monteverde, Costa Rica. Yellow markers represent *P. americana* sites, blue markers represent *C. pepo* sites, and green markers represent sites where both focal crop species were sampled. Meters above sea-level are shown for each 100-meter transition across the transect. Obtained from Google Maps.

The dry season typically takes place from December to April with a rainfall average of 50-150 mm rainfall monthly (Baker 2007, Peters et al. 2010). The region consists primarily of pastures, sugar cane and coffee plantations, and other agricultural plantations subdivided by patches of old primary forest (Peters et al. 2010). This site is protected under conservation easements that preclude forest-clearing activities.

Observations were grouped into 100 m elevation bands and assigned elevation categories as follows: Observations conducted between 651-750 m were categorized in the 700 m elevation band; observations conducted between 751-850 m were categorized in the 800 m elevation band; observations between 851-950 m were categorized in the 900 m elevation band; observations between 951-1050 m were categorized in the 1000 m elevation band; and, observations conducted between 1051-1150 m were categorized into the 1100 m band. Two farm sites occurred in the 700 m elevation band, two sites in the 800 m band, three in the 900 m band, four in the 1000 m band, and four sites in the 1100 m elevation band. Sites containing avocado trees were located across the elevation gradient, while squash seeds were planted directly in the ground at sites selected for utilization in squash sampling. Ten of the fifteen farm sites were utilized for P. *americana* sampling as well as for *C. pepo.* sampling. The San Luis Valley encompasses small forest patches, windbreaks, cattle pastures, and sugarcane and coffee plantations. In order to incorporate the diverse nature of the landscape in the study area, the farms selected for this study varied between coffee agroforests and smaller residential farms.

Focal Crop Species

Avocado, *Persea americana*, is a tropical evergreen tree native to Mexico, Central and South America, however, it is widely and commercially cultivated in tropical and Mediterranean climates globally (Chen et al. 2009a). Worldwide, the avocado industry produces more than 4 million tons of avocados for consumption yearly, equivalent to approximately nine billion USD (González-Estudillo et al. 2017). Avocado trees are commonly 15-30 feet tall, but can grow up to 60 ft tall, and consist of inflorescences of inconspicuous light green blossoms (Figure 2-2). Avocado flowering behavior expresses a diurnally synchronous protogynous dichogamy; each flower opens twice, first as a female, then as a male during the second opening, rendering each avocado flower structurally and functionally bisexual (Bender 2002). The two complementary flowering stages occur simultaneously on separate individuals and, under proper conditions, will flower at opposite stages in order to ensure crosspollination (Bergh 1973). However, as temperatures are variable, the daily openings of functionally male and female flowers may become delayed and irregular, such that a single tree may have female and male flowers open at the same time, allowing selfpollination to occur (Silva et al. 2002). Studies of avocado pollination in Central America revealed that bees from the tribe Meliponini show a significant preference for avocado blooms, while honeybees exhibit activity on avocado blooms but readily forgo avocado for competing or more rewarding flowers (Ish-Am and Eisikowitch 1993, Ish-Am et al. 1999).



Figure 2-2. Single *Persea americana* flower during stage two, the functionally male stage. *Source*: Kristina Victoreen, Earthwatch Institute volunteer, December 2019.

Cucurbita, one of approximately 90 genera belonging to Cucurbitaceae, consists of species commonly known as squash, gourds, pumpkins, and zucchini, and is native to Mesoamerica (Wilson 1990). *Cucurbita* species are annual vine or bush crops that are monecious, thus requiring biotic pollination for fruit set (Hurd et al. 1971, Willis and Kevan 1995). Squash varieties are widely grown for commercial use and are utilized for both human consumption and livestock fodder (Isaacs et al. 2017). *Cucurbita pepo* produces large, showy yellow-orange flowers with male flowers producing an abundance of pollen and nectar, and female flowers producing copious amounts of nectar (Mcgregor 1976, Tepedino 1981). Squash flowers have a brief flowering period; flowers open before or by sunrise and close by the afternoon (Hurd et al. 1971, Willis and Kevan 1995). Studies of *Cucurbita* pollination have revealed that *Peponapis* and *Xenoglossa* genera of the tribe Eucerini are obligate pollinators (Tepedino 1981), however, honey bees and stingless bees are occasionally important pollinators of squash

outside of Eucerini species' ranges and when weather and climatic conditions do not favor Eucerini foraging activity (Michelbacher et al. 1964, Heard 1999).

Pollinator Sampling

Pollinator sampling was conducted during the months of June-July and December of 2018-2019 from 0800 to 1400 h daily in order to quantify the pollinator assemblages for *P. americana* and *C. pepo* during their respective flowering seasons and explore the relationship between the pollinator assemblages and altitude across an elevation gradient. GPS units were utilized in order to obtain the longitude, latitude, and altitude of each focal crop individual at each site during the sampling period. Ten *P. americana* individuals were selected based on accessibility and evenness across the sampled elevations.

Active collection methods were employed as this is the most effective way to target the entire bee community. Any bees present during the sampling period were captured using hand nets and jars and preserved using 70% ethanol. Floral abundance for squash was counted, and avocado was estimated by counting the flowers on 3 to 4 branches and multiplying by the number of branches. Samples were exported to Eastern Kentucky University for identification and processing. All bee specimens were keyed out to species or genus using identification keys in Michener (2007), Mawdsley (2017), Jarau and Barth (2008), and Aguiar and Melo (2011).

Statistical Analysis

To determine the adequacy of sampling effort, species accumulation curves for each focal crop species were formulated using the *accumcomp* function in the BiodiversityR package of R version 2.11-3 (Kindt and Coe 2005). Species names were abbreviated for clarity (**Appendix A**).

To compare bee community composition of each elevation band, the degree of similarity of the community composition among the elevation categories for each focal crop species was analyzed using the *'SimilarityMult'* function in the 'Spade-R' package of R version 0.1.1 (Chao et al. 2016), using the Morisita index to conduct multi-stage community comparisons. This approach is the most robust method for comparing community overlap as it allows for concurrent analysis of several samples and among communities with a species overlap greater than two (Chao et al. 2008). Communities were considered to be statistically different if similarity values were less than 0.19 (Rodríguez-Castañeda et al. 2010).
RESULTS

A total of 47 samples were collected from *Persea americana* in December of 2018 and 2019, resulting in 145 individuals representing 21 species (**Figure 2-3**). Pollinator species observed visiting *P. americana* belong to two bee families, Apidae and Halictidae, and included the tribes Apini, Augochlorini, Ceratinini, Chilicolini, Emphorini, Halictini, and Meliponini. The species accumulation curve for *P. americana* did not appear to approach an asymptote, indicating the need for further sampling in order to accurately assess the bee community composition of *P. americana* (**Figure 2-4**).



Figure 2-3. Abundance of species collected during thirty-minute timed flower observations at *Persea americana* across the elevation gradient. Each red dot corresponds to on individual. Observations were conducted during December of 2018 and 2019 in the San Luis Valley, CR.



Figure 2-4. Species accumulation curves for timed samples conducted at flowers of *Persea americana* and *Cucurbita pepo*, 2018-2019.

A total of 32 samples were collected from *Cucurbita pepo* during the wet and dry seasons of 2019, resulting in 223 individuals representing nine species (**Figure 2-5**). Pollinator species collected from *C. pepo* flowers were from two bee families, Apidae and Halictidae, and included the tribes Ceratinini, Eucerini, Halictini, and Meliponini. The species accumulation curve for *C. pepo* indicated that My sampling effort was adequate.

Multiple stage similarity comparisons were conducted on all bee observations collected from each focal crop species. The similarity among observations across all sampled elevations were compared in order to determine if bee communities significantly differed (similarity values ≤ 0.19) in response to elevation. The bee community visiting *P. americana* flowers differed among the elevation categories (**Table 2-1**).



Figure 2-5. Abundance of species collected during thirty-minute timed flower observations at *Cucurbita pepo* across the elevation gradient. Red dots indicate individual observations. Observations were conducted during the wet and dry seasons of 2019.

| Elevation Category | 700 m | 800 m | 900 m | 1000 m | 1100 m |
|--------------------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|
| 700 m | 1.000 | 0.809 | 0.804 | 0.393 | 0.255 |
| 800 m | | 1.000 | 0.883 | 0.691 | 0.656 |
| 900 m | | | 1.000 | 0.461 | 0.346 |
| 1000 m | | | | 1.000 | 1.000 |
| 1100 m | | | | | 1.000 |

Table 2-1. Community similarity matrix observed at *Persea americana*, December 2018 and 2019.

Bee communities at 1000 m and 1100 m elevation categories exhibit the highest degree of similarity for *P. americana* (mean Morisita similarity value *c*. 1.000), while bee communities at 700 m and 1100 m elevation categories exhibit the highest degree of dissimilarity (mean Morisita similarity value *c*. 0.255). The community present within the 1100 m elevation category exhibited the highest degree of dissimilarity with all other elevation categories, except for the community present at the 1000 m elevation category. Similarity comparisons for *C. pepo* demonstrated high dissimilarity values and high turnover among the elevation categories (**Table 2-2**). Bee communities at 900 m and 1100 m elevation categories exhibit the highest degree of similarity for *C. pepo* (mean Morisita similarity value *c*. = 1.000), while the bee communities at 800 m and 900 m, as well as 800 m and 1100 m elevation, were the most dissimilar (mean Morisita similarity value *c*. = 0.164, mean Morisita similarity value *c*. = 0.105) respectively.

| Elevation Category | 800 m | 900 m | 1000 m | 1100 m |
|--------------------|-------|-------|--------|--------|
| 800 m | 1.000 | 0.164 | 0.248 | 0.105 |
| 900 m | | 1.000 | 0.726 | 1.000 |
| 1000 m | | | 1.000 | 0.582 |
| 1100 m | | | | 1.000 |

Table 2-2. Community similarity matrix observed at *Cucurbita pepo*, 2019.

DISCUSSION

Pollination of crops by native pollinator species is an invaluable ecosystem service (Ashworth et al. 2009) in the Neotropics, where 94% of plant species rely on animal pollination, and many rural populations rely heavily on subsistence farming (Cole 2010, Ollerton et al. 2011). My findings emphasize the importance of native pollinators in crop production, as an introduced bee species, *Apis mellifera*, was found in only ~11% of *P. americana* observations and in no observations of *C. pepo*. Pollination by native bee species has been shown to be as effective as pollination by managed bees (Freitas and Paxton 1998, Heard 1999), however, the maintenance of native bee species is dependent on the preservation of suitable habitat within agricultural landscapes (Ricketts et al. 2004), as well as the conservation of plantpollinator mutualisms (Tylianakis et al. 2010). The Main road transect was established in 2012 as part of a larger study investigating pollinator abundance and species richness patterns across elevational gradients, and has since found ~ 180 bee species to be present in the study area, however, this number may underrepresent the actual number of bee species present as sampling efforts have been, at least in part, focused on passive sampling techniques that may under sample the bee community on farms and residential properties (Roulston et al. 2007, Prendergast et al. 2020).

The pollinator assemblage of *P. americana* in my study system consisted of 21 species, comprising approximately 12% of the total observed species richness in the study area. Approximately 77% of the individuals observed visiting *P. americana* belong to the tribe Meliponini, while the other 23% of pollinator observations consisted of the tribes Apini, Augochlorini, Ceratinini, Chilicolini, Emphorini, and Halictini.

62

Similarly, of the nine species and 223 individuals observed visiting *C. pepo*, comprising approximately 5% of the total observed species pool, ~76% of those individuals belong to the tribe Meliponini, while 24% of the observations consisted of species belonging to the tribes Ceratinini, Halictini, and Eucerini. Eucerini tribe genera *Xenoglossa* and *Peponapis* have a close ecological relationship with and are specialist foragers for *Cucurbita* sp., however, species belonging to the tribe Eucerini make up only ~5% of all individuals observed at *C. pepo*, indicating the need for further sampling in order to determine if Eucerini species are rare in the sampling area and the extent to which Meliponini species provide effective pollination services. Furthermore, Meliponini are thought to be important pollinators for avocado as they have similar historical and contemporary ranges and have been documented as frequent avocado visitors (Can-Alonzo et al. 2005, Slaa et al. 2006). My findings suggest that Meliponini species may be important pollinators for *P. americana* and *C. pepo* in the study area, and conservation efforts should work to ensure the preservation of this bee tribe.

The relatively infrequent observation of Eucerini species visiting *C. pepo* in my study may be explained by interspecific interference competition due to overlap in resource use, if species belonging to this tribe are truly rare in the study area, as rare species can be displaced by common species due to overlap in resource use (Steffan-Dewenter and Tscharntke 2000). Species in the tribe Eucerini comprise ~1% of all individual bees observed in the study area, although sampling efforts have been primarily focused on treelets, shrubs, and herbaceous growth, as well as passive sampling, thus sufficient sampling of preferred plant species belonging to Cucurbitaceae may discern this bee tribe's rarity in the study area.

63

After ~16 hours of *Cucurbita pepo* observations and ~23.5 hours of *Persea americana* observations, species accumulation curves indicate that further sampling may be needed for *P. americana* in order to accurately determine the pollinator assemblages visiting each focal crop species and the variation in assemblages across the elevation gradient. While sampling efforts remain too low to be certain of the degree to which elevation specialization in bee species may affect the variation in the pollinator assemblages occurring at *P. americana*, community similarity analyses for each focal crop species revealed relatively high variation in the similarity of the bee communities visiting each crop species across the elevation gradient. For *P. americana*, many community comparisons resulted in a degree of similarity greater than 50%, while communities at the highest sampled elevation categories exhibited low similarity values with lower elevations; the bee community visiting P. americana at the 800 m elevation category exhibited a low degree of similarity with the communities at the 1000 m and 1100 m elevation categories. Similarly, the pollinator assemblages observed at C. pepo exhibit a significant degree of dissimilarity, particularly among communities observed at 800 and 900 m, and at 800 and 1100 m, indicating the importance of elevation in determining the pollinator assemblages occurring at each crop species, as well as crop pollination effectiveness (Theobald et al. 2016). Elevation specialization by bees may indicate sensitivity to temperature or precipitation patterns, competition avoidance, species-specific thermal maximums, floral resource availability, or habitat preference (Deutsch et al. 2008, Colwell et al. 2008, Basu et al. 2016).

Pollinator dependent food crops are more profitable than non-pollinator dependent crops (Ashworth et al. 2009), and food crop pollination in rural tropical

64

agroforests is highly dependent on the native pollinator community (Klein et al. 2008). Presence of natural habitat is also important to ensuring crop pollination effectiveness, as increased variation in pollinator success and fruit set has been observed for crops located in intensive agricultural areas or isolated from natural habitat (Eeraerts et al. 2019). Understanding the pollinator assemblages occurring at *P. americana* and *C. pepo*, and how pollinator distributions may be influenced by elevation and climatic variables, is fundamental to supporting crop production in tropical montane regions (Macias-Macias et al. 2009). My results suggest that species in the tribe Meliponini may be key pollinators for both P. americana and C. pepo, as both focal crop species received approximately 75% of pollinator visits from species in this tribe. Obtaining fruit set or weight, as well as seed set, for my crop species, may help to elucidate pollination effectiveness (Sheffield 2014), as well as employing other pollinator sampling methods, including pollen grain assessments and pollinator exclusion methods (Eltz et al. 2001, Magrach et al. 2018). Many variables may be important in determining the pollinator visitors to *P. americana* and *C. pepo*, however, understanding the factors that drive species distribution patterns across elevation gradients, as well as promoting the management of natural areas and sustainable farming, are critical to conserving plant-pollinator relationships (Colwell et al. 2008, Gonthier et al. 2014, García-Robledo et al. 2016).

- Aguiar, A. J. C., and G. A. R. Melo. 2011. Revision and phylogeny of the bee genus *Paratetrapedia* Moure, with description of a new genus from the Andean Cordillera (Hymenoptera, Apidae, Tapinotaspidini). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 162:351–442.
- Aguilar, I., E. Herrera, and G. Zamora. 2012. Stingless bees of Costa Rica. Pages 113– 124 Pot-Honey: A Legacy of Stingless Bees.
- Aguirre-Jaimes, A., W. Dáttilo, D. Rodríguez-Morales, S. Canchola-Orozco, E.
 Cocoletzi, R. Coates, and G. Angeles. 2018. Foraging ants on the extrafloral nectaries repel nectar thieves but not the effective pollinator of *Vigna luteola* (Fabaceae) in a Mexican coastal sand dune. Sociobiology 65:621–629.
- Aguirre, A., and R. Dirzo. 2008. Effects of fragmentation on pollinator abundance and fruit set of an abundant understory palm in a Mexican tropical forest. Biological Conservation 141:375–384.
- Aleixo, K. P., L. B. de Faria, M. Groppo, M. M. do N. Castro, and C. I. da Silva. 2014. Spatiotemporal distribution of floral resources in a Brazilian city: Implications for the maintenance of pollinators, especially bees. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening 13:689–696.
- Aleixo, K. P., C. Menezes, V. L. Imperatriz Fonseca, and C. I. da Silva. 2017. Seasonal availability of floral resources and ambient temperature shape stingless bee foraging behavior (*Scaptotrigona* aff. *depilis*). Apidologie 48:117–127.
- Allen-Wardell, G., P. Bernhardt, R. Bitner, A. Burquez, S. Buchmann, J. Cane, P. A. Cox, V. Dalton, P. Feinsinger, M. Ingram, D. Inouye, C. E. Jones, K. Kennedy, P.

Kevan, H. Koopowitz, R. Medellin, S. Medellin-Morales, G. P. Nabhan, B. Pavlik,
V. Tepedino, P. Torchio, and S. Walker. 1998. The potential consequences of
pollinator declines on the conservation of biodiversity and stability of food crop
yields. Conservation Biology 12:8–17.

- Araujo, E. D., M. Costa, J. Chaud-Netto, and H. G. Fowler. 2004. Body size and flight distance in stingless Bees (Hymenoptera: Meliponini): Inference of flight range and possible ecological implications. Brazilian Journal of Biology 64:563–568.
- Ashworth, L., M. Quesada, A. Casas, R. Aguilar, and K. Oyama. 2009. Pollinatordependent food production in Mexico. Biological Conservation 142:1050–1057.
- Aslan, C. E., E. S. Zavaleta, B. Tershy, and D. Croll. 2013. Mutualism disruption threatens global plant biodiversity: a systematic review. PLoS ONE 8:1–11.
- Atmowidjojo, A. H., D. E. Wheeler, E. H. Erickson, and A. C. Cohen. 1997.
 Temperature tolerance and water balance in feral and domestic honey bees, *Apis mellifera* L. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology 118:1399–1403.
- Baker, C. P. 2007. Moon Costa Rica. Moon Travel.
- Balvanera, P., C. Kremen, and M. Martínez-Ramos. 2005. Applying community structure analysis to ecosystem function: Examples from pollination and carbon storage. Ecological Applications 15:360–375.
- Balvanera, P., A. B. Pfisterer, N. Buchmann, J. S. He, T. Nakashizuka, D. Raffaelli, and
 B. Schmid. 2006. Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem
 functioning and services. Ecology Letters 9:1146–1156.

Barrantes, G. 2009. The role of historical and local factors in determining species

composition of the highland avifauna of Costa Rica and western Panamá. Revista de Biología Tropica 57:333–346.

- Bartomeus, I., J. S. Ascher, D. Wagner, B. N. Danforth, S. Colla, S. Kornbluth, and R. Winfree. 2011. Climate-associated phenological advances in bee pollinators and bee-pollinated plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108:20645–20649.
- Bartomeus, I., S. G. Potts, I. Steffan-Dewenter, B. E. Vaissière, M. Woyciechowski, K.
 M. Krewenka, T. Tscheulin, S. P. M. Roberts, H. Szentgyörgyi, C. Westphal, and
 R. Bommarco. 2014. Contribution of insect pollinators to crop yield and quality
 varies with agricultural intensification. PeerJ 2:1–20.
- Bascompte, J., and P. Jordano. 2007. Plant-animal mutualistic networks: The architecture of biodiversity. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 38:567–593.
- Basu, P., A. K. Parui, S. Chatterjee, A. Dutta, P. Chakraborty, S. Roberts, and B. Smith.
 2016. Scale dependent drivers of wild bee diversity in tropical heterogeneous agricultural landscapes. Ecology and Evolution 6:6983–6992.
- Bawa, K. S. 1990. Plant-pollinator interactions in tropical rain forests. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 21:399–422.

Beck, J., C. M. McCain, J. C. Axmacher, L. A. Ashton, F. Bärtschi, G. Brehm, S. W.
Choi, O. Cizek, R. K. Colwell, K. Fiedler, C. L. Francois, S. Highland, J. D.
Holloway, J. Intachat, T. Kadlec, R. L. Kitching, S. C. Maunsell, T. Merckx, A.
Nakamura, E. Odell, W. Sang, P. S. Toko, J. Zamecnik, Y. Zou, and V. Novotny.
2016. Elevational species richness gradients in a hyperdiverse insect taxon: A

global meta-study on geometrid moths. Global Ecology and Biogeography 26:412–424.

- Becker, R. A., A. R. Wilks, R. Brownrigg, T. P. Minka, and A. Deckmyn. 2018. Maps: Draw geographical maps.
- Benadi, G., T. Hovestadt, H.-J. Poethke, and N. Blüthgen. 2014. Specialization and phenological synchrony of plant-pollinator interactions along an altitudinal gradient. Journal of Animal Ecology 83:639–650.
- Bender, G. S. 2002. Avocado flowering and pollination. Pages 39–49 Avocado production in California: A cultural handbook for growers.
- Bergh, B. O. 1973. The remarkable avocado flower. California Avocado Society Yearbook 57:40–41.
- Bolker, B. M., M. E. Brooks, C. J. Clark, S. W. Geange, J. R. Poulsen, M. Henry, H. Stevens, and J.-S. S. White. 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: A practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 24:127–135.
- Brehm, G., R. K. Colwell, and J. Kluge. 2007. The role of environment and mid-domain effect on moth species richness along a tropical elevational gradient. Global Ecology and Biogeography 16:205–219.
- Briggs, H. M., I. Perfecto, and B. J. Brosi. 2013. The role of the agricultural matrix:Coffee management and euglossine bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Euglossini)communities in Southern Mexico. Environmental Entomology 42:1210–1217.
- Brosi, B. J. 2009. The complex responses of social stingless bees (Apidae: Meliponini) to tropical deforestation. Forest Ecology and Management 258:1830–1837.

Brosi, B. J., G. C. Daily, T. M. Shih, F. Oviedo, and G. Durán. 2008. The effects of

forest fragmentation on bee communities in tropical countryside. Journal of Applied Ecology 45:773–783.

- Bujan, J., S. P. Yanoviak, and M. Kaspari. 2016. Desiccation resistance in tropical insects: Causes and mechanisms underlying variability in a Panama ant community. Ecology and Evolution 6:6282–6291.
- Burkle, L. A., J. C. Martin, and T. M. Knight. 2013. Plant-pollinator interactions over 120 years: Loss of species, co-ocurrence, and function. Science 339:1611–1615.
- Buttigieg, P. L., and A. Ramette. 2014. A guide to statistical analysis in microbial ecology: A community-focused, living review of multivariate data analyses. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 90:543–550.
- Bystriakova, N., T. Griswold, J. S. Ascher, and M. Kuhlmann. 2018. Key environmental determinants of global and regional richness and endemism patterns for a wild bee subfamily. Biodiversity and Conservation 27:287–309.
- Calfee, E., M. N. Agra, M. A. Palacio, S. R. Ramírez, and G. Coop. 2020. Selection and hybridization shaped the Africanized honey bee invasion of the Americas. bioRxiv:1–50.
- Campbell, A. J., L. G. Carvalheiro, M. M. Maués, R. Jaffé, T. C. Giannini, M. A. B. Freitas, B. W. T. Coelho, and C. Menezes. 2018. Anthropogenic disturbance of tropical forests threatens pollination services to açaí palm in the Amazon river delta. Journal of Applied Ecology 55:1–12.
- Can-Alonzo, C., J. J. G. Quezada-Euán, P. Xiu-Ancona, H. Moo-Valle, G. R.
 Valdovinos-Nunez, and S. Medina-Peralta. 2005. Pollination of 'criollo' avocados (*Persea americana*) and the behaviour of associated bees in subtropical Mexico.

Journal of Apicultural Research 44:3–8.

- Cane, J. H., R. L. Minckley, and L. J. Kervin. 2000. Sampling bees (Hymenoptera: Apiformes) for pollinator community studies: Pitfalls of pan- trapping. Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society 73:225–231.
- Cane, J. H., and J. L. Neff. 2011. Predicted fates of ground-nesting bees in soil heated by wildfire: Thermal tolerances of life stages and a survey of nesting depths. Biological Conservation 144:2631–2636.
- Carneiro, E., O. H. H. Mielke, M. M. Casagrande, and K. Fiedler. 2014. Community structure of skipper butterflies (Lepidoptera, Hesperiidae) along elevational gradients in Brazilian Atlantic forest reflects vegetation type rather than altitude. PLoS ONE 9.
- Chan, S. F., W. K. Shih, A. Y. Chang, S. F. Shen, and I. C. Chen. 2019. Contrasting forms of competition set elevational range limits of species. Ecology Letters 22:1668–1679.
- Chao, A., L. Jost, S. C. Chiang, Y.-H. Jiang, and R. L. Chazdon. 2008. A two-stage probabilistic approach to multiple-community similarity. Biometrics 64:1178– 1186.
- Chao, A., K. H. Ma, T. C. Hsieh, and C.-H. Chiu. 2016. User's guide for online program SpadeR (species-richness prediction and diversity estimation in R). National Tsing Hua University, Taiwan:88.
- Chaudhary, O. P. 2006. Diversity, foraging behavior of floral visitors and pollination ecology of fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.). Journal of Spices and Aromatic Crops 15:34–41.

- Chen, H., P. L. Morrell, V. E. T. M. Ashworth, M. De La Cruz, and M. T. Clegg. 2009a. Tracing the geographic origins of major avocado cultivars. Journal of Heredity 100:56–65.
- Chen, I.-C., H.-J. Shiu, S. Benedick, J. D. Holloway, V. Khen Chey, H. S. Barlow, J. K. Hill, and C. D. Thomas. 2009b. Elevation increases in moth assemblages over 42 years on a tropical mountain. PNAS 106:1479–1483.
- Classen, A., M. K. Peters, S. W. Ferger, M. Helbig-Bonitz, J. M. Schmack, G. Maassen,
 M. Schleuning, E. K. V. Kalko, K. Bohning-Gaese, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2014.
 Complementary ecosystem services provided by pest predators and pollinators
 increase quantity and quality of coffee yields. Proceedings of the Royal Society B:
 Biological Sciences 281.
- Cole, R. J. 2010. Social and environmental impacts of payments for environmental services for agroforestry on small-scale farms in southern Costa Rica. International Journal of Sustainable Development and World Ecology 17:208–216.
- Colwell, R. K., G. Brehm, C. L. Cardelús, A. C. Gilman, and J. T. Longino. 2008.Global warming, elevational range shifts, and lowland biotic attrition in the wet tropics. Science 322:258–61.
- Colwell, R. K., and G. C. Hurtt. 1994. Nonbiological gradients in species richness and a spurious Rapoport effect. The American Naturalist 144:570–595.
- Colwell, R. K., and D. C. Lees. 2000. The mid-domain effect: Geometric constraints on the geography of species richness. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 15:70–76.
- Colwell, R. K., C. Rahbek, and N. J. Gotelli. 2004. The mid-domain effect and species richness patterns: What have we learned so far? The American Naturalist 163.

- Corbet, S. A., I. H. Williams, and J. L. Osborne. 1991. Bees and the pollination of crops and wild flowers in the European community. Bee World 72:47–59.
- Coutinho, J. G. da E., L. A. Garibaldi, and B. F. Viana. 2018. The influence of local and landscape scale on single response traits in bees: A meta-analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 256.
- Davila, Y. C., and G. M. Wardle. 2008. Variation in native pollinators in the absence of honeybees: Implications for reproductive success of an Australian generalistpollinated herb *Trachymene incisa* (Apiaceae). Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 156:479–490.
- Delgado-Carrillo, O., S. Marten-Rodriguez, L. Ashworth, R. Aguilar, M. Lopezaraiza-Mikel, and M. Quesada. 2018. Temporal variation in pollination services to *Cucurbita moschata* is determined by bee gender and diversity. Ecosphere 9.
- Deutsch, C. A., J. J. Tewksbury, R. B. Huey, K. S. Sheldon, C. K. Ghalambor, D. C. Haak, and P. R. Martin. 2008. Impacts of climate warming on terrestrial ectotherms across latitude. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:6668–6672.
- Dew, R. M., S. M. Rehan, and M. P. Schwarz. 2016. Biogeography and demography of an Australian native bee *Ceratina australensis* (Hymenoptera, Apidae) since the last glacial maximum. Journal of Hymenoptera Research 49:25–41.
- Dixon, A. F. G., A. Honěk, P. Keil, M. A. A. Kotela, A. L. Šizling, and V. Jarošík.
 2009. Relationship between the minimum and maximum temperature thresholds for development in insects. Functional Ecology 23:257–264.
- Dixon, K. W. 2009. Pollination and restoration. Science 325:571–573.

Droege, S. (n.d.). Tips on how to use bee bowls to collect bees.

Droege, S. 2015. The handy bee manual.

- Dunn, R. R., N. C. Harris, R. K. Colwell, L. P. Koh, and N. S. Sodhi. 2009. The sixth mass coextinction: Are most endangered species parasites and mutualists?Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 276:3037–3045.
- Dupont, L. M., F. Schlütz, C. T. Ewah, T. C. Jennerjahn, A. Paul, and H. Behling. 2010.Two-step vegetation response to enhanced precipitation in Northeast Brazil during Heinrich event 1. Global Change Biology 16:1647–1660.
- Eardley, C., and H. V Daly. 2007. Bees of the genus *Ceratina* Latrielle in Southern Africa (Hymenoptera, Apoidea). 13th edition. M. Schwarz.
- Eeraerts, M., G. Smagghe, and I. Meeus. 2019. Pollinator diversity, floral resources and semi-natural habitat, instead of honey bees and intensive agriculture, enhance pollination service to sweet cherry. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 284:106586.
- Eltz, T., C. A. Brühl, and K. E. Linsenmair. 2001. Pollen foraging and resource partitioning of stingless bees in relation to flowering dynamics in a Southeast Asian tropical rainforest. Insectes Sociaux 48:273–279.
- Engel, M. S. 2000. A new interpretation of the oldest fossil bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae). American Museum of Natural History 3296:1–11.
- Engel, M. S. 2015. The bibliography of and taxa proposed by Charles D. Michener. Journal of Melittology:1.
- Faria, L. R. R., and R. B. Gonçalves. 2013. Abiotic correlates of bee diversity and composition along eastern Neotropics. Apidologie 44:547–562.

- Fick, S. E., and R. J. Hijmans. 2017. WorldClim 2: New 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology 37:4302–4315.
- Fontaine, C., J. Meriguet, M. Loreau, and I. Dajoz. 2006. Diversity of plant-pollinator interaction and stability of ecosystems. Medecine Sciences : M/S 22:817–819.
- Fox, J., and S. Weisberg. 2018. An R companion to applied regression. Sage publications, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Frankie, G. W., S. B. Vinson, M. A. Rizzardi, T. L. Griswold, S. O'Keefe, and R. R. Snelling. 1997. Diversity and abundance of bees visiting a mass flowering tree species in disturbed seasonal dry forest, Costa Rica. Kansas Entomological Society 70:281–296.
- Freiberg, M. 1997. Spatial and temporal pattern of temperature and humidity of a tropical premontane rain forest tree in Costa Rica. Selbyana 18:77–84.
- Freitas, B. M., J. E. Alves, G. F. Brandão, and Z. B. Araujo. 1999. Pollination requirements of West Indian Cherry (*Malpighia emarginata*) and its putative pollinators, *Centris* bees, in NE Brazil. The Journal of Agricultural Science 133:303–311.
- Freitas, B. M., V. L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, L. M. Medina, A. de M. P. Kleinert, L. Galetto, G. Nates-Parra, and J. J. G. Quezada-Euán. 2009. Diversity, threats and conservation of native bees in the Neotropics. Apidologie 40:332–346.
- Freitas, B. M., and R. J. Paxton. 1998. A comparison of two pollinators: The introduced honey bee *Apis mellifera* and an indigenous bee *Centris tarsata* on cashew *Anacardium occidentale* in its native range of NE Brazil. Journal of Applied Ecology 35:109–121.

- García-Robledo, C., E. K. Kuprewicz, C. L. Staines, T. L. Erwin, and W. J. Kress.
 2016. Limited tolerance by insects to high temperatures across tropical elevational gradients and the implications of global warming for extinction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113:680–685.
- Garibaldi, L. A., L. G. Carvalheiro, B. E. Vaissière, B. Gemmill-herren, J. Hipólito, B.
 M. Freitas, H. T. Ngo, N. Azzu, A. Sáez, J. Åström, J. An, B. Blochtein, D.
 Buchor, F. J. C. García, F. Oliveira da Silva, K. Devkota, M. de F. Ribeiro, L.
 Freitas, M. C. Gaglianone, M. Goss, M. Irshad, M. Kasina, A. J. S. P. Filho, L. H.
 P. Kiill, P. Kwapong, G. N. Parra, C. Pires, V. Pires, R. S. Rawal, A. Rizali, A. M.
 Saraiva, R. Veldtman, B. F. Viana, S. Wiiter, and H. Zhang. 2016. Mutually
 beneficial pollinator diversity and crop yield outcomes in small and large farms.
 Science 351:388–391.
- Garibaldi, L. A., I. Steffan-dewenter, R. Winfree, M. A. Aizen, R. Bommarco, S. A.
 Cunningham, C. Kremen, L. G. Carvalheiro, L. D. Harder, O. Afik, I. Bartomeus,
 F. Benjamin, V. Boreux, D. Cariveau, N. Chacoff, J. Dudenhoffer, B. Frietas, J.
 Ghazoul, S. Greenleaf, J. Hipolito, A. Holzschuh, B. Howlett, R. Isaacs, S. K.
 Javorek, C. M. Kennedy, K. M. Krewenka, S. Krishnan, Y. Mandelik, M.
 Mayfield, I. Motzke, T. Munyuli, B. A. Nault, M. Otieno, J. Peterson, G. Pisanty,
 S. G. Potts, R. Rader, T. H. Ricketts, M. Rundlöf, C. L. Seymour, C. Schuepp, H.
 Szentgyörgyi, H. Taki, T. Tscharntke, C. H. Vergara, B. F. Viana, T. C. Wanger,
 C. Westphal, N. Williams, and A. M. Klein. 2013. Wild pollinators enhance fruit

Gaston, K. J. 2000. Global patterns in biodiversity. Nature 405:220-227.

- Ghalambor, C. K., R. B. Huey, P. R. Martin, J. J. Tewksbury, and G. Wang. 2006. Are mountain passes higher in the tropics? Janzen's hypothesis revisited. Integrative and Comparative Biology 46:5–17.
- Gibbs, J., E. Elle, K. Bobiwash, T. Haapalainen, and R. Isaacs. 2016. Contrasting pollinators and pollination in native and non-native regions of highbush blueberry production. PLoS ONE 11:1–24.
- Gómez-Escobar, E., P. Liedo, P. Montoya, R. Vandame, and D. Sánchez. 2014.
 Behavioral response of two species of stingless bees and the honey bee
 (Hymenoptera: Apidae) to GF-120. Journal of Economic Entomology 107:1447–1449.
- Gonthier, D. J., K. K. Ennis, S. Farinas, H.-Y. Hsieh, A. L. Iverson, P. Batáry, J.
 Rudolphi, T. Tscharntke, B. J. Cardinale, and I. Perfecto. 2014. Biodiversity conservation in agriculture requires a multi-scale approach. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281:1–8.
- González-Estudillo, J. C., J. B. González-Campos, F. Nápoles-Rivera, J. M. Ponce-Ortega, and M. M. El-Halwagi. 2017. Optimal planning for sustainable production of avocado in Mexico. Process Integration and Optimization for Sustainability 1:109–120.
- Gonzalez, V. H., J. M. Hranitz, C. R. Percival, K. L. Pulley, S. T. Tapsak, T. Tscheulin,
 T. Petanidou, and J. F. Barthell. 2020. Thermal tolerance varies with dim-light
 foraging and elevation in large carpenter bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Xylocopini).
 Ecological Entomology 45:688–696.

Gottlieb, D., T. Keasar, A. Shmida, and U. Motro. 2005. Possible foraging benefits of

bimodal daily activity in *Proxylocopa olivieri* (Lepeletier) (Hymenoptera: Anthophoridae). Environmental Entomology 34:417–424.

- Goulson, D., E. Nicholls, C. Botías, and E. L. Rotheray. 2015. Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. Science 347.
- Gunderson, A. R., and J. H. Stillman. 2015. Plasticity in thermal tolerance has limited potential to buffer ectotherms from global warming. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282.
- Hartfelder, K. 2008. Catalogue of the bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) in the Neotropical region. Apidologie 39:387–387.
- Harvey, C. A. 2000. Windbreaks enhance seed dispersal into agricultural landscapes in Monteverde, Costa Rica. Ecological Applications 10:155–173.
- Heard, T. A. 1999. The role of stingless bees in crop pollination. Annual Review of Entomology 44:183–206.
- Hegland, S. J., A. Nielsen, A. Lázaro, A.-L. Bjerknes, and Ø. Totland. 2009. How does climate warming affect plant-pollinator interactions? Ecology Letters 12:184–195.

Hijmans, R. J. 2020. Raster: Geographic data analysis and modeling.

- HilleRisLambers, J., M. A. Harsch, A. K. Ettinger, K. R. Ford, and E. J. Theobald.2013. How will biotic interactions influence climate change-induced range shifts?Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1297:112–125.
- Hoiss, B., J. Krauss, S. G. Potts, S. Roberts, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2012. Altitude acts as an environmental filter on phylogenetic composition, traits and diversity in bee communities. Proceedings of the Royal Society 279:4447–4456.
- Hoiss, B., J. Krauss, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2015. Interactive effects of elevation,

species richness and extreme climatic events on plant-pollinator networks. Global Change Biology 21:4086–4097.

- Howlett, B. G., B. J. Donovan, J. A. McCallum, L. E. Newstrom, and D. A. J. Teulon.2005. Between and within field variability of New Zealand indigenous flower visitors to onions. New Zealand Plant Protection 58:213–218.
- Hunt, C. A., W. H. Durham, L. Driscoll, and M. Honey. 2015. Can ecotourism deliver real economic, social, and environmental benefits? A study of the Osa Peninsula, Costa Rica. Journal of Sustainable Tourism 23:339–357.
- Hurd, P. D., E. G. Linsley, and T. W. Whitaker. 1971. Squash and gourd bees (*Peponapis, Xenoglossa*) and the origin of the cultivated *Cucurbita*. Evolution 25:218–234.
- Isaacs, R., N. Williams, J. Ellis, T. L. Pitts-Singer, R. Bommarco, and M. Vaughan. 2017. Integrated crop pollination: Combining strategies to ensure stable and sustainable yields of pollination-dependent crops. Basic and Applied Ecology 22:1–17.
- Ish-Am, G., F. Barrientos-Priego, A. Castaneda-Vildozola, and S. Gazit. 1999. Avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) pollinators in its region of origin. Revista Chapingo Serie Horticultura 5:137–143.
- Ish-Am, G., and D. Eisikowitch. 1993. The behaviour of honey bees (*Apis mellifera*) visiting avocado (*Persea americana*) flowers and their contribution to its pollination. Journal of Apicultural Research 32:175–186.
- James, R., and T. L. Pitts-Singer. 2008. Bee pollination in agricultural ecosystems. Oxford University Press.

Janzen, D. H. 1967. Why mountain passes are higher in the tropics. The American Naturalist 101:233–249.

Janzen, D. H. 1988. Tropical dry forests. Pages 130–137 Biodiversity.

- Jarau, S., and F. G. Barth. 2008. Stingless bees of the Golfo Dulce region, Costa Rica (Hymenoptera, Apidae, Apinae, Meliponini). Stapfia 88:267–276.
- Jetz, W., and C. Rahbek. 2002. Geographic range size and determinants of avian species richness. Science 297:1548–1551.
- Jha, S., and J. H. Vandermeer. 2009. Contrasting foraging patterns for Africanized honeybees, native bees and native wasps in a tropical agroforestry landscape. Journal of Tropical Ecology 25:13–22.
- Johnson, S. D. 2010. The pollination niche and its role in the diversification and maintenance of the southern African flora. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365:499–516.
- Junker, R. R., N. Blüthgen, T. Brehm, J. Binkenstein, J. Paulus, H. Martin Schaefer, and M. Stang. 2013. Specialization on traits as basis for the niche-breadth of flower visitors and as structuring mechanism of ecological networks. Functional Ecology 27:329–341.
- Kaluza, B. F., H. M. Wallace, T. A. Heard, V. Minden, A. Klein, and S. D. Leonhardt.2018. Social bees are fitter in more biodiverse environments. Scientific Reports 8:1–10.
- Kearns, C. A., D. W. Inouye, and N. M. Waser. 1998. Endangered mutualisms: The conservation of plant-pollinator interactions. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 29:83–112.

- Kennedy, C. M., E. Lonsdorf, M. C. Neel, N. M. Williams, T. H. Ricketts, R. Winfree, R. Bommarco, C. Brittain, A. L. Burley, D. Cariveau, L. G. Carvalheiro, N. P. Chacoff, S. A. Cunningham, B. N. Danforth, J. H. Dudenhöffer, E. Elle, H. R. Gaines, L. A. Garibaldi, C. Gratton, A. Holzschuh, R. Isaacs, S. K. Javorek, S. Jha, A. M. Klein, K. Krewenka, Y. Mandelik, M. M. Mayfield, L. Morandin, L. A. Neame, M. Otieno, M. Park, S. G. Potts, M. Rundlöf, A. Saez, I. Steffan-Dewenter, H. Taki, B. F. Viana, C. Westphal, J. K. Wilson, S. S. Greenleaf, and C. Kremen. 2013. A global quantitative synthesis of local and landscape effects on wild bee pollinators in agroecosystems. Ecology Letters 16:584–599.
- Kindt, R., and R. Coe. 2005. Tree diversity analysis. A manual and software for common statistical methods for ecological and biodiversity studies. World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Nairobi (Kenya).
- Kishan, T. M., M. Srinivasan, V. Rajashree, and R. Thakur. 2017. Stingless bee *Tetragonula iridipennis* Smith for pollination of greenhouse cucumber. Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies 5:1729–1733.
- Klein, A. M., S. A. Cunningham, M. Bos, and I. Steffan-Dewenter. 2008. Advances in pollination ecology from tropical plantation crops. Ecology 89:935–943.
- Klein, A. M., I. Steffan-Dewenter, and T. Tscharntke. 2003. Fruit set of highland coffee increases with the diversity of pollinating bees. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 270:955–961.
- Klein, A. M., B. E. Vaissière, J. H. Cane, I. Steffan-Dewenter, S. A. Cunningham, C.Kremen, and T. Tscharntke. 2007. Importance of pollinators in changinglandscapes for world crops. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological

Sciences 274:303–313.

- Kocsis, M., and L. Hufnagel. 2011. Impacts of climate change on Lepidoptera species and communities. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research 9:43–72.
- Kuznetsova, A., P. Brockhoff, and R. Christensen. 2017. LmerTest package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. Journal of Statistical Software 82:1–26.
- Longino, J. T., and R. K. Colwell. 2011. Density compensation, species composition, and richness of ants on a Neotropical elevational gradient. Ecosphere 2:1–20.
- Macedo, M. V., R. F. Monteiro, V. Flinte, M. Almeida-Neto, G. Khattar, L. F. L. da Silveira, C. de O. Araújo, R. de O. Araújo, C. Colares, C. V. S. Gomes, C. B. Mendes, E. F. Santos, and P. J. Mayhew. 2018. Insect elevational specialization in a tropical biodiversity hotspot. Insect Conservation and Diversity 11:240–254.
- Macias-Macias, O., J. Chuc, P. Ancona-Xiu, O. Cauich, and J. J. G. Quezada-Euán.
 2009. Contribution of native bees and Africanized honey bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea) to Solanaceae crop pollination in tropical México. Journal of Applied Entomology 133:456–465.
- Magrach, A., A. Holzschuh, I. Bartomeus, V. Riedinger, S. P. M. Roberts, M. Rundlöf,
 A. Vujić, J. B. Wickens, V. J. Wickens, R. Bommarco, J. P. González-Varo, S. G.
 Potts, H. G. Smith, I. Steffan-Dewenter, and M. Vilà. 2018. Plant–pollinator
 networks in semi-natural grasslands are resistant to the loss of pollinators during
 blooming of mass-flowering crops. Ecography 41:62–74.
- Maia-Silva, C., M. Hrncir, C. I. da Silva, and V. L. Imperatriz-Fonseca. 2015. Survival strategies of stingless bees (*Melipona subnitida*) in an unpredictable environment, the Brazilian tropical dry forest. Apidologie 46:631–643.

- Martínez-Hernández, E., J. I. Cuadriello-Aguilar, E. Ramírez-Arriaga, M. Medina-Camacho, M. S. Sosa-Nájera, and J. E. Melchor-Sánchez. 1994. Foraging of Nannotrigona testaceicornis, Trigona (Tetragonisca) angustula, Scaptotrigona mexicana and Plebeia sp. in the Tacaná region, Chiapas, Mexico. Grana 33:205–217.
- Mawdsley, J. 2017. Large carpenter bees: A guide to the species of *Xylocopa* (*Neoxylocopa*) from North and Central America. Pineway Press., University Park, MD.
- McCain, C. M., and R. K. Colwell. 2011. Assessing the threat to montane biodiversity from discordant shifts in temperature and precipitation in a changing climate. Ecology Letters 14:1236–1245.
- Mcgregor, S. E. 1976. Insect pollination Of cultivated crop plants. United States Department of Agriculture.
- Michelbacher, A., R. Smith, and P. Hurd. 1964. Bees are essential: Pollination of squashes, gourds and pumpkins. California Agriculture 18:2–4.
- Michener, C. D. 1979. Biogeography of the bees. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 66:277–347.
- Michener, C. D. 1985. From solitary to eusocial: Need there be a series of intervening species? Fortschritte der Zoologie (Stuttgart) 31:293–305.
- Michener, C. D. 1990a. Castes in Xylocopine bees. Pages 123–146 Social Insects. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Michener, C. D. 1990b. Classification of the Apidae (Hymenoptera). The University of Kansas Science Bulletin 54:75.

- Michener, C. D. 2007. The bees of the world. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- Milfont, M. de O., E. E. M. Rocha, A. O. N. Lima, and B. M. Freitas. 2013. Higher soybean production using honeybee and wild pollinators, a sustainable alternative to pesticides and autopollination. Environmental Chemistry Letters 11:335–341.
- Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, E. 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: Synthesis. Island Press.
- Montejo-Kovacevich, G., S. H. Martin, J. I. Meier, C. N. Bacquet, M. Monllor, C. D. Jiggins, and N. J. Nadeau. 2020. Microclimate buffering and thermal tolerance across elevations in a tropical butterfly. Journal of Experimental Biology 223.
- Moriyama, M., and H. Numata. 2006. Induction of egg hatching by high humidity in the cicada *Cryptotympana facialis*. Journal of Insect Physiology 52:1219–1225.
- Murphy, P. G., and A. E. Lugo. 1986. Ecology of tropical dry forest. Annual review of ecology and systematics 17:67–88.
- Murray, T. E., M. Kuhlmann, and S. G. Potts. 2009. Conservation ecology of bees: Populations, species and communities. Apidologie 40:211–236.
- Neuschulz, E. L., T. Mueller, M. Schleuning, and K. Böhning-Gaese. 2016. Pollination and seed dispersal are the most threatened processes of plant regeneration. Scientific Reports 6.
- Newstrom, A. L. E., G. W. Frankie, and H. G. Baker. 1994. A new classification for plant phenology based on flowering patterns in lowland tropical rain forest trees at La Selva , Costa Rica. Biotropica 26:141–159.
- Oksanen, J., F. G. Blanchet, M. Friendly, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, D. McGlinn, P. R.

Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, G. L. Simpson, P. Solymos, M. H. H. Stevens, H. Wagner, and M. J. Oksanen. 2013. Package "vegan." The Community Ecology Package 2:1–295.

- Olesen, J. M., and P. Jordano. 2002. Geographic patterns in plant-pollinator mutualistic networks. Ecology 83:2416–2424.
- Ollerton, J., R. Winfree, and S. Tarrant. 2011. How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? Oikos 120:321–326.
- Opler, P. A., G. W. Frankie, and H. G. Baker. 1976. Rainfall as a factor in the release, timing, and synchronization of anthesis by tropical trees and shrubs. Journal of Biogeography 3:231.
- Pacheco Filho, A. J. S., C. F. Verola, L. W. Lima Verda, and B. M. Freitas. 2015. Beeflower association in the Neotropics: Implications to bee conservation and plant pollination. Apidologie 46:530–541.
- Parmesan, C., and G. Yohe. 2003. A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature 421:37–42.
- Pereboom, J. J. M., and J. C. Biesmeijer. 2003. Thermal constraints for stingless bee foragers: The importance of body size and coloration. Oecologia 137:42–50.
- Perez-Balam, J., J. J. J. Quezada-Euan, R. Alfaro-Bates, S. Medina, L. Mckendrick, A. Soro, and R. Paxton. 2012. The contribution of honey bees, flies and wasps to avocado (*Persea americana*) pollination in Southern Mexico. Journal of Pollination Ecology 8:42–47.
- Peters, V., R. Carroll, R. Cooper, R. Greenberg, and M. Solís. 2012. The contribution of plant species with a steady-state flowering phenology to native bee conservation

and bee pollination services. Insect Conservation and Diversity 6.

- Peters, V. E., R. Mordecai, C. Ronald Carroll, R. J. Cooper, and R. Greenberg. 2010.Bird community response to fruit energy. Journal of Animal Ecology 79:824–835.
- Pinkus-Rendon, M. A., V. Parra-Tabla, and V. Meléndez-Ramírez. 2005. Floral resource use and interactions between *Apis mellifera* and native bees in cucurbit crops in Yucatán, México. The Canadian Entomologist 137:441–449.
- Prendergast, K. S., M. H. M. Menz, K. W. Dixon, P. W. Bateman, C. : Prendergast, M. H. M. Menz, K. W. Dixon, and P. W. Bateman. 2020. The relative performance of sampling methods for native bees: An empirical test and review of the literature. Ecosphere 11:1–22.
- Raffa, K. F., B. H. Aukema, B. J. Bentz, A. L. Carroll, J. A. Hicke, M. G. Turner, and W. H. Romme. 2008. Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: The dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. BioScience 58:501–517.
- Raju, A. J. S., S. P. Rao, and S. V. Sri. 2001. Foraging ecology of *Ceratina* and pollination in some Indian plants. Indian Bee Journal 63:35–44.
- Rehan, S. M., T. W. Chapman, A. I. Craigie, M. H. Richards, S. J. B. Cooper, and M. P. Schwarz. 2010. Molecular phylogeny of the small carpenter bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Ceratinini) indicates early and rapid global dispersal. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 55:1042–1054.
- Rehan, S. M., S. M. Tierney, and W. T. Wcislo. 2015. Evidence for social nesting in Neotropical ceratinine bees. Insectes Sociaux 62:465–469.

Ricketts, T. H., G. C. Daily, P. R. Ehrlich, and C. D. Michener. 2004. Economic value

of tropical forest to coffee production. PNAS 101:12579–12582.

- Ricketts, T. H., J. Regetz, I. Steffan-Dewenter, S. A. Cunningham, C. Kremen, A.
 Bogdanski, B. Gemmill-Herren, S. S. Greenleaf, A. M. Klein, M. M. Mayfield, L.
 A. Morandin, A. Ochieng', and B. F. Viana. 2008. Landscape effects on crop pollination services: Are there general patterns? Ecology Letters 11:499–515.
- Rodríguez-Castañeda, G., L. A. Dyer, G. Brehm, H. Connahs, R. E. Forkner, and T. R.Walla. 2010. Tropical forests are not flat: How mountains affect herbivore diversity. Ecology Letters 13:1348–1357.
- Roubik, D. W. 1981. Comparative foraging behavior of *Apis mellifera* and *Trigona corvina* (Hymenoptera: Apidae) on *Baltimora recta* (Compositae). Revista de Biologica Tropical 29:177–183.
- Roubik, D. W. 1989. Ecology and natural history of tropical bees. Cambridge University Press.
- Roulston, T. H., S. A. Smith, and A. L. Brewster. 2007. A comparison of pan trap and intensive net sampling techniques for documenting a bee (Hymenoptera : Apiformes) fauna. Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society 80:179–181.
- Ruiz-Utrilla, Z. P., J. L. León-Cortés, P. L. Enríquez, and A. Molina-Martínez. 2018.
 Spatial distribution and population ecology of *Drucina championi* (Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae), a threatened butterfly from mountain landscapes of Southern Mexico. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 111:285–294.
- Sakai, S., and K. Kitajima. 2019. Tropical phenology: Recent advances and perspectives. Ecological Research 34:50–54.

Sánchez-Bayo, F., and K. A. G. Wyckhuys. 2019. Worldwide decline of the

entomofauna: A review of its drivers. Biological Conservation 232:8–27.

- Santos, P. K. F., M. C. Arias, and K. M. Kapheim. 2019. Loss of developmental diapause as prerequisite for social evolution in bees. Biology Letters 15.
- Saunders, M. E. 2018. Insect pollinators collect pollen from wind-pollinated plants: Implications for pollination ecology and sustainable agriculture.
- Van Schaik, C. P., J. W. Terborgh, and S. J. Wright. 1993. The phenology of tropical forests: Adaptive significance and consequences for primary consumers. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 24:353–377.
- Sheffield, C. S. 2014. Pollination, seed set and fruit quality in apple: Studies with Osmia lignaria (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae) in the Annapolis Valley, Nova Scotia, Canada. Journal of Pollination Ecology 12:120–128.
- Sheldon, K. S. 2019. Climate change in the tropics: Ecological and evolutionary responses at low latitudes. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 50:303–333.
- Sheppard, W. S., A. Soares, D. Dejong, and H. Shimanuki. 1991. Hybrid status of honey bee populations near the historic origin of Africanization in Brazil.
 Apidologie 22:643–652.
- Sileshi, G. 2007. Evaluation of statistical models for analysis of insect, disease and weed abundance and incidence data. East African Journal of Sciences 1:1–9.
- Silva, D., C. Lovatt, and B. O. Bergh. 2002. Avocados. Pages 581–618 Avocado production in California: A Cultural Handbook for Growers. University of California.
- Slaa, E. J., L. A. Sánchez Chaves, K. S. Malagodi-Braga, and F. E. Hofstede. 2006.

Stingless bees in applied pollination: Practice and perspectives. Apidologie 37:293–315.

- van der Sluijs, J. P., and N. S. Vaage. 2016. Pollinators and global food security: The need for holistic global stewardship. Food Ethics 1:75–91.
- Srygley, R. B., R. Dudley, E. G. Oliveira, R. Aizprúa, N. Z. Pelaez, and A. J. Riveros. 2010. El Niño and dry season rainfall influence hostplant phenology and an annual butterfly migration from Neotropical wet to dry forests. Global Change Biology 16:936–945.
- Stan, K., and A. Sanchez-Azofeifa. 2019. Tropical dry forest diversity, climatic response, and resilience in a changing climate. Forests 10.
- Steffan-Dewenter, I., S. G. Potts, and L. Packer. 2005. Pollinator diversity and crop pollination services are at risk. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20:651–652.
- Steffan-Dewenter, I., and T. Tscharntke. 2000. Resource overlap and possible competition between honey bees and wild bees in Central Europe. Oecologia 122:288–296.
- Sunday, J. M., A. E. Bates, M. R. Kearney, R. K. Colwell, N. K. Dulvy, J. T. Longino, and R. B. Huey. 2014. Thermal-safety margins and the necessity of thermoregulatory behavior across latitude and elevation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111:5610–5615.
- Tepedino, V. J. 1981. The Pollination efficiency of the squash bee (*Peponapis pruinosa*) and the honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) on summer squash (*Cucurbita pepo*).
 Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society 54:359–377.

Theobald, E. J., H. Gabrielyan, and J. HilleRisLambers. 2016. Lilies at the limit:

Variation in plant-pollinator interactions across an elevational range. American Journal of Botany 103:189–197.

- Thorat, L., and B. B. Nath. 2018. Insects with survival kits for desiccation tolerance under extreme water deficits. Frontiers in Physiology 9:1–11.
- Tylianakis, J. M., E. Laliberté, A. Nielsen, and J. Bascompte. 2010. Conservation of species interaction networks. Biological Conservation 143:2270–2279.
- Urban, M. C., J. J. Tewksbury, and K. S. Sheldon. 2012. On a collision course:
 Competition and dispersal differences create no-analogue communities and cause extinctions during climate change. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 279:2072–2080.
- Vanbergen, A. J., and the Insect Pollinators Initiative. 2013. Threats to an ecosystem service: Pressures on pollinators. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11:251–259.
- Venables, W. N., and B. D. Ripley. 2013. Modern applied statistics with S-PLUS. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Vidal, M. das G., D. de Jong, H. C. Wien, and R. A. Morse. 2010. Pollination and fruit set in pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo*) by honey bees. Revista Brasileira de Botânica 33:107–113.
- Vit, P., S. R. M. Pedro, and D. Roubik. 2012. Pot-honey: A legacy of stingless bees. Springer, New York.
- Warton, D. I., M. Lyons, J. Stoklosa, and A. R. Ives. 2016. Three points to consider when choosing a LM or GLM test for count data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7:882–890.

- Watts, S., C. F. Dormann, A. M. Martín González, and J. Ollerton. 2016. The influence of floral traits on specialization and modularity of plant-pollinator networks in a biodiversity hotspot in the Peruvian Andes. Annals of Botany 118:415–429.
- Wickham, H. 2011. The split-apply-combine strategy for data analysis. Journal of Statistical Software 40:1–29.
- Wickham, H. 2016. Ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Willis, S. D., and P. G. Kevan. 1995. Foraging dynamics of *Peponapis pruinosa* (Hymenoptera: Anthophoridae) on pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo*) in Southern Ontario. The Canadian Entomologist 127:167–175.
- Wilson, H. D. 1990. Gene flow in squash species. BioScience 40:449-455.
- Wolda, H. 1988. Insect seasonality: Why? Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 19:1–18.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A:

List of abbreviations used in figures in chapter 2 in place of species complete scientific

name.
| Species | Abbreviation |
|--|--------------|
| Apis mellifera | AM |
| Augochloropsis morphospecies 6 | A_ms6 |
| Ceratina dimidiata | CD |
| Ceratina eximia | CE |
| Chilicola morphospecies 1 | C_ms1 |
| Halictini morphospecies 10 | H_ms10 |
| Lasioglossum dialictus morphospecies 1 | Ld_ms1 |
| Lasioglossum dialictus morphospecies 2 | Ld_ms2 |
| Lasioglossum dialictus morphospecies 7 | Ld_ms7 |
| Melissodes morphospecies 1 | Ms_ms1 |
| Melitoma morphospecies 1 | M_ms1 |
| Partamona orizabaensis | РО |
| Plebeia frontalis | PF |
| Plebeia pulchra | РР |
| Peponapis morphospecies 4 | P_ms4 |
| Peponapis morphospecies 5 | P_ms5 |
| Scaptotrigona mexicana | SM |
| Scaptotrigona pectoralis | SP |
| Tetragona dorsalis | TD |
| Tetragonisca angustula | ТА |
| Thygater morphospecies 4 | T_ms4 |
| Trigona corvina | TC |
| Trigona fulviventris | TF |
| Trigona fuscipennis | TU |
| Trigona silvestriana | TS |
| Trigona buyssoni | TB |

List of abbreviations used in figures in chapter 2 in place of species complete scientific name.